
 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

City Council Chambers 

Monday, July 11, 2022 at 7:00 PM 

AGENDA 

Call to Order, Prayer, Pledge of Allegiance 

Adjustment and Approval of the Agenda — Items will only be added or removed with the approval of 

the Mayor and City Council. 

Request to Speak/Opportunity for Public Comment — This is an opportunity for members of the 

public to express items of interest to the Mayor and City Council.  This is not a time to respond or take 

action.  Any necessary action will be taken under advisement.  Speakers are asked to use proper decorum 

and to limit comments to no more than three minutes. 

Consent Agenda — The items of the Consent Agenda are adopted on a single motion and vote, unless the 

Mayor and City Council wish to withdraw an item for separate vote and/or discussion. 

1. Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting the Regular Meeting minutes of the 

June 13th, 2022.  

2. Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting the Work Session Meeting minutes 

of the June 28th, 2022.  

Business Items 

3. Establish Public Hearing - Arc St: City Council will consider establishing a public hearing on 

Monday, August 8th at 7:00 PM to hear public comment regarding rezoning request from Design 

Development Solutions for property located at tax parcel #202266 (7.05 acres), from Rural (R) to 

Urban Residential (UR).   

4. Establish Public Hearing: City Council will consider establishing a public hearing on Monday, 

August 8th at 7:00 PM to hear public comment regarding a major subdivision for property 

located at tax parcel #121008. 

5. Establish Public Hearing: City Council will consider establishing a public hearing on Monday, 

August 8th at 7:00 PM to hear public comment regarding a major subdivision for property 

located at tax parcel #307413. 

6. Public Hearing - Petition for Voluntary Annexation Lennar Homes: City Council will hold a 

public hearing to hear public comment regarding the petition for voluntary annexation from 

Lennar Homes regarding property located off of Costner School Rd. Parcel Number #307413. 

1



7. Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Bessemer City, North Carolina - 

City Council will consider approving an ordinance to annex property located off of Costner 

School Rd, Parcel Number #307413, and will be zoned Urban Residential (UR).  

8. Public Hearing- City Code of Ordinances: City Council will hold a public hearing to hear 

public comment regarding the proposed text changes in the following chapter of the Code of 

Ordinances: Chapter 93- Animals. 

9. Ordinance for Text Amendment: City Council will consider adopting an ordinance to amend 

text in Chapter 93 - Animals of the City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances and the Land 

Development Code.  

10. Public Hearing- City Code of Ordinances: City Council will hold a public hearing to hear 

public comment regarding the proposed text changes in the following chapter of the Code of 

Ordinances: Chapter 150 - Buildings & Minimum Housing Regulations.  

11. Ordinance for Text Amendment: City Council will consider adopting an ordinance to amend 

text in Chapter 150 - Buildings & Minimum Housing Regulations.  

12. Public Hearing- City Code of Ordinances: City Council will hold a public hearing to hear 

public comment regarding the proposed text changes in the following new chapter of the Code of 

Ordinances:Chapter 130.10- Camping. 

13. Ordinance for Text Amendment: City Council will consider adopting an ordinance to amend 

text in Chapter 130.10 - Camping of the City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances.  

14. Public Hearing- City Code of Ordinances: City Council will hold a public hearing to hear 

public comment regarding the proposed text changes in the following new chapter of the Code of 

Ordinances:Chapter 120- Mobile Vendor.  

15. Ordinance for Text Amendment: City Council will consider adopting an ordinance to amend 

text in Chapter 120 - Mobile Vendor of the City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances.  

16. Public Hearing- Economic Development Grant (Trinity Capital): City Council will hold a 

public hearing to hear public comment regarding an Economic Development Incentive for 

Trinity Capital Advisors.  

17. Resolution - Trinity Capital Advisors Project Incentive: City Council will consider approving 

an Economic Incentive for Trinity Capital Advisors after hearing those present at the public 

hearing.  

18. Public Hearing- Economic Development Grant (Project Trim): City Council will hold a 

public hearing to hear public comment regarding an Economic Development Incentive for 

Project Trim.  

19. Resolution - Project Trim Project Incentive: City Council will consider approving an 

Economic Incentive for Project Trim after hearing those present at the public hearing. 

City Manager's Report 

20. General: The City Manager will address City Council regarding general City affairs.  

2



Council General Discussion — This is an opportunity for the Mayor and City Council to ask questions 

for clarification, provide information to staff, request staff to report back, or place a matter on a future 

agenda. 

Adjourn 

3



 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

City Council Chambers 

Monday, June 13, 2022 at 7:00 PM  

MINUTES 
Members Present  

Mayor, Becky S. Smith, Council Members: Brent Guffey, Kay McCathen, Brenda Boyd, Dan Boling, and 

Joe Will were all present. The following member was absent: Donnie Griffin. City Manager, James Inman 

and City Attorney, Dan O’Shea were present as well.  

Call to Order, Prayer, Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith called the meeting to order. First Baptist Church Pastor, Olin Byrum led the audience in 

prayer. Mayor Smith led the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Adjustment and Approval of the Agenda  

By motion of Kay McCathen and unanimous vote, the June agenda was approved with no revisions. 

 

Request to Speak/Opportunity for Public Comment 

Mayor Smith opened the floor for public comment. There was none.  

 

Consent Agenda 

The following items on the Consent Agenda were unanimously approved by motion of Dan Boling: 

 Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting the Regular Meeting Minutes of 

the May 9th, 2022 meeting.  

 Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting the Special Session Meeting 

Minutes of the May 12th, 2022 meeting.  

 Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting the Special Session Meeting 

Minutes of the May 17th, 2022 meeting.  

 Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting the Work Session Meeting 

Minutes of the June 6th, 2022 meeting.  

 

Establish Public Hearing:  
City Staff is requesting the establishment of a public hearing for Council to hear comments from citizens 

regarding the petition for voluntary annexation from Lennar Homes regarding property located off of 

Costner School Rd. Parcel Number #220086, #151795, and a portion of #305559. 

 

By motion of Joe Will and unanimous vote, a public hearing regarding the annexation petition for Lennar 

Homes will be held on Monday, July 11, 2022 at 7:00PM in Council Chambers. Public notice will be given 

per NC General Statutes.  

 

 

4

Item 1.



Establish Public Hearing:  
City Staff is requesting the establishment of a public hearing for Council to hear comments from citizens 

regarding a rezoning request from Design Development Solutions for property located at tax parcel #202266 

(7.05 acres), from Urban Residential (UR) and Rural (R) to Urban Residential Conditional District (URCD). 

 

By motion of Dan Boling and unanimous vote, a public hearing regarding the rezoning request from Design 

Development Solutions will be held on Monday, July 11, 2022 at 7:00PM in Council Chambers. Public 

notice will be given per NC General Statutes.  

 

Establish Public Hearing:  
City Staff is requesting the establishment of a public hearing for Council to hear comments from citizens 

regarding the proposed text changes in the following chapters of the Code of Ordinances: Chapter 93- 

Animals, Chapter 150 - Buildings & Minimum Housing Regulations, and a proposed new Chapter Camping 

& Mobile Vendor.  

 

By motion of Brent Guffey and unanimous vote, a public hearing regarding the text amendment changes 

will be held on Monday, July 11, 2022 at 7:00PM in Council Chambers. Public notice will be given per NC 

General Statutes.  

 

Establish Public Hearing:  
City Staff is requesting the establishment of a public hearing for Council to hear public comment regarding 

rezoning request from Eastwood Homes for property located at tax parcels #306573 and #304904, from 

Neighborhood Residential (NR) and Rural (R) to Urban Residential Conditional District (URCD). 

 

By motion of Joe Will and unanimous vote, a public hearing regarding the rezoning request from Eastwood 

Homes will be held on Monday, July 11, 2022 at 7:00PM in Council Chambers. Public notice will be given 

per NC General Statutes.  

 

Establish Public Hearing:  
City Staff is requesting the establishment of a public hearing for Council to hear public comment regarding 

an Economic Development Incentive for Project Trim. 

 

By motion of Brenda Boyd and unanimous vote, a public hearing regarding an Economic Development 

Incentive grant will be held on Monday, July 11, 2022 at 7:00PM in Council Chambers. Public notice will 

be given per NC General Statutes.  

 

Establish Public Hearing:  
City Staff is requesting the establishment of a public hearing for Council to hear public comment regarding 

an Economic Development Incentive for Trinity Capital Advisors. 

 

By motion of Brenda Boyd and unanimous vote, a public hearing regarding an Economic Development 

Incentive grant will be held on Monday, July 11, 2022 at 7:00PM in Council Chambers. Public notice will 

be given per NC General Statutes.  

 

Public Hearing- Proposed FY 2022- 2023 Budget 

As required by NCGS 159-12, the City is required to hold a public hearing prior to adopting the fiscal 

budget.  

 

By motion of Brenda Boyd and unanimous vote, the public hearing was opened at 7:10 PM. 

5

Item 1.



Mayor Smith asked if there was anyone to speak in favor of the 2022-2023 proposed budget. There was 

none.  

 

Mayor Smith asked if there was anyone to speak in opposition of the 2022-2023 proposed budget. There 

was none.  

 

By motion of Kay McCathen and unanimous vote, the public hearing to consider the adoption of the 2022-

2023 proposed budget was closed at 7:12 PM. A copy of the budget ordinance is on file at City Hall.  

 

Ordinance- Proposed FY 2022- 2023 Budget: 

Light discussion between Council and the City Manager ensued regarding the proposed 2022-2023 budget. 

This budget was completed with no tax increase to citizens. City Manager, James Inman thanked the 

Council for their hard work on behalf of the Staff. 

  

By motion of Joe Will and unanimous vote, the 2022-2023 proposed budget was adopted. 

 

Board Appointment Application: 

Director of Administration, Josh Ross addressed Council regarding all appointed boards and their 

vacancies.  

 

By motion of Dan Boling and unanimous vote, Allen Hook and Charlene Hill were reappointed to serve 

on the Planning & Zoning Board of Adjustments. They will serve until 2025. 

 

By motion of Brenda Boyd and unanimous vote, Allen Hook will serve as the 2022-2023 Planning & 

Zoning Board of Adjustments Chair. 

 

By motion of Joe Will and unanimous vote, Dr. Robert Crouch and Michael Brooks were reappointed to 

serve on the ABC Board. They will serve until 2025. 

 

By motion of Joe Will and unanimous vote, Michael Brooks will serve as the 2022-2023 ABC Board 

Chair. 

 

By motion of Kay McCathen and unanimous vote, Nellie Floyd was reappointed to serve on the 

Downtown Development Board. She will serve until 2025. 

 

By general consensus, Mayor and Council will continue to solicit applications from citizens to fill a 

vacancy on the Downtown Development and Planning & Zoning Board. 

 

City Manager’s Report 

City Manager James Inman, addressed Council regarding the following:  

- Budget Amendment: City Staff is requesting the approval of a budget amendment regarding 

the general fund balance loan proceeds for Stinger Park and the Police Department 

equipment. By motion of Joe Will and unanimous vote, the budget amendment was approved.   

 

- City Manager Letter of Retirement: City Manager, James Inman formally announced his 

retirement. Effective December 31, 2022 Mr. Inman will retire from the position of City 

Manager. By motion of Joe Will and a 4 -1 vote, with Dan Boling in opposition, Mr. Inman’s 

retirement letter was accepted.  

6

Item 1.



- City Manager Vacancy Consideration: By motion of Dan Boling and a 4-1 vote with Brent 

Guffey in opposition, Joshua Ross was appointed as the next City Manager effective 

November 1st.  

  

Council General Discussion  

Mayor Smith opened the floor for Council general discussion. Council members, Dan Boling, Joe Will, 

Kay McCathen, and Brenda Boyd commended City Manager, James Inman on a job well done and a 

happy retirement. Attorney Dan O’Shea and Code Enforcement Officer, Don Mauldin provided Council 

with an update on the Diflorio property on Costner School Road.  

 

Adjournment  

Being no further business to come before the board, by motion of Brenda Boyd and unanimous vote, the 

meeting was adjourned at 7:46 PM. 

 

 

_______________________                                                   ______________________________ 

   Becky S. Smith, Mayor                                   Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 

 

7

Item 1.



 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

City Council Chambers 

Tuesday, June 28, 2022 at 3:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Call to Order 

Mayor Becky S. Smith called the meeting to order.  

 

Members Present  

Mayor, Becky S. Smith, Council Members: Joe Will, Kay McCathen, Brenda Boyd, Dan Boling, and 

Donnie Griffin were all present. Council Member: Brent Guffey was absent. City Manager, James Inman 

and department heads was present as well. A quorum was present.  

 

Department Head Reports 

Bessemer City department heads gave reports on their department’s status:  

 

Josh Ross, Director of Administration- Mr. Ross addressed Council regarding Osage Mill Redevelopment, 

Trinity Capital Advisors, and Project Trim. The Mill Redevelopment team has received its approval letter 

to move forward. Trinity Capital Advisors and Project Trim will be applying for the Economic 

Development grant at the next Council meeting.  

 

JoD Franklin, Parks and Recreation Director- Mr. Franklin addressed Council regarding the City Pool and 

the 9-10 year old Baseball Division Tournament. The tournament went great, the City made over $5,000 on 

the gate and won two Sportsmanship awards.  

 

Jamie Ramsey, Assistant City Manager- Mr. Ramsey addressed Council regarding upgrades at the water 

plant and storm damage that occurred at the Long Creek pump station. During the recent storm, the roof 

was blown off.   

 

Nathan Hester, City Planner – Mr. Hester addressed Council regarding the amendments to the Code of 

Ordinances to come before Council at the next Council meeting. By general consensus, included in the text 

amendments are that no one may have more than 4 chickens and 5 bee hives. There will be several public 

hearings at the next Council meeting.  

 

Charlie Harbin, Fire Chief – Mr. Harbin addressed Council regarding the house that was recently burned 

down at 902 Edgewood Road. Also, the Fire Department went and trained with the Livent Fire Department.  

 

City  Manager’s Report 

Director of Administration, Josh Ross addressed Council regarding the following:   

- General: The City received a $500,000 grant for the Business Accelerator program. By general 

consensus, Council agreed to allow City Administration to work with real Estate personnel to 

8

Item 2.



purchase the old Kintegra office building for $140,000 and the old Dixon pool building for $70,000 

in hopes to renovate the buildings and sale them to stabilize downtown properties.  

- Capital Project Ordinance: City Staff is seeking the approval of a Capital Project Ordinance 

regarding fund balance and revenue used for the digitizing of all City utility lines and maps.  

- Budget Amendments: Yearend budget amendments to close out the fiscal year 2021-2022. The first 

budget amendment regarding fund balance appropriation for contracted services was adopted by 

motion of Brenda Boyd and unanimous vote. The second budget amendment regarding 

appropriations in the water and gas fund were adopted by motion of Dan Boling an unanimous vote.  

 

Council General Discussion 
Mayor Smith opened the floor for Council general discussion. Council member, Joe Will informed Council 

about the recent ABC Board meeting he attended as the City liaison.   

Adjourn 

Being no further business to come before the board, the meeting was adjourned at 4:46 PM by motion of 

Donnie Griffin and unanimous vote. 

 

_______________________                                                  ______________________________ 

   Becky S. Smith, Mayor                 Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 

9

Item 2.



  

Petition for Annexation into the Bessemer City City Limits 

 

Section A Submittal Checklist 

Please include all of the following (check off). If any information is missing from the application package, you will be asked to 

resubmit the petition with all required materials. Please carefully check the list below before you submit: 

Required – An incomplete application will delay the annexation process. 

 
Written metes and bounds description of the property to be annexed. (Must include in application packet and email a 

Microsoft Word version to jinman@bessemercity.com). Mark as Exhibit A. Source can be from Survey or Deed. 

 
Map showing above written metes and bounds description of the property to be annexed in relation to the current city limits 

Mark as Exhibit B. 

 
A Current County Tax Map with parcels included in the annexation request clearly marked. Mark as Exhibit C. 

https://gis.gastongov.com/  

 
Correct Parcel Identification Number(s) (PIN) on second page of application. This is very important. Please indicate 

if the property to be annexed is only a portion of an existing parcel.   https://gis.gastongov.com/  

 
Property Owners’ Signatures, Date of Signatures, and addresses. See page 3 of this application. All real property 

owners must sign the application, and such signature must be notarized. An authorized representative must sign on behalf 

of each legal entity that holds ownership of the property and such representative’s signature must be notarized. One 

signature for each legal ownership interest in the property. 

Please include signatures of new owners if ownership will change during the annexation process. 

 
Notary Statements for each signature 

 
General Warranty Deed showing ownership of the property. Petitioners must submit a title opinion or title insurance if a 

general warranty deed is not available. Upon review, a title opinion may be required in addition to a general warranty deed. 

 
Statement of vested rights claimed, if any. 

 
A letter authorizing a developer or agent to handle annexation petition (e.g. withdraw, delay/reactivate petition). 

 
This application form (Sections A, B, C, and D) completed, dated and signed by the property owner(s) and attested 

submitted by the deadlines noted in section B of this application, page 2. 

City of Bessemer City 
132 West Virginia Avenue 
Bessemer City, NC 28016 

(704) 629-5542 
www.bessemercity.com 

x

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

10

Item 6.

mailto:jinman@bessemercity.com).
https://gis.gastongov.com/
https://gis.gastongov.com/


 

Section B Submittal Deadlines 

The City of Bessemer City accepts petitions for annexation at any time. The annexation will become effective immediately 

upon adoption of the annexation ordinance by City Council and after the scheduled public hearing unless notified 

otherwise by the City Clerk. 

(The City reserves the right to make exceptions to this tentative processing schedule for any reason, including when outstanding staff 

comments need to be addressed.) 

Timeline for Annexation is as follows: 

SUBMITTAL: Submit application to the City of Bessemer City 

REVIEW BY STAFF: Staff will review the petition and determine if more information is needed. 

1ST CITY COUNCIL MEETING: The City Council Meeting is typically held the second Monday of each month. The City Council will 

pass a resolution directing the City Clerk to investigate the annexation petition. The City Clerk will present to the City Council a 

Certificate of Sufficiency indicating that the annexation petition is complete. A resolution setting the date of the public hearing is then 

approved. 

LEGAL ADVERTISEMENT: A legal advertisement will be published pursuant to NCGS requirements. 

2ND CITY COUNCIL MEETING/PUBLIC HEARING: This City Council Meeting will be the following month’s regular meeting date, the 

second Monday of the month.  The City Council will either adopt or deny an ordinance to extend the corporate limits of the City of 

Bessemer City. 

RECORDATION: If the annexation is approved by the City Council, the City will have the Annexation Plats recorded at the Gaston 

County Register of Deeds. Gaston County will keep one of the recorded plats, one copy will be returned to the City. 

Section C Summary Information / Metes and Bounds Descriptions 

Development Project Name 

Street Address 

Gaston County County Property Identification Number(s) list below 

P.I.N. P.I.N. P.I.N. 

P.I.N. P.I.N. P.I.N. 

Acreage of Annexation Site 

Annexation site is requesting connection to City of Bessemer City Water ____,Sewer _____, and/or Natural Gas______. 

Person to contact if there are questions about the petition 

Name 

Address 

Phone Fax # Email 

CREEKSIDE COTTAGES
143 BOBBIE LANE

305559(PORTION) 151795 220086

98.354

Mark Henninger
6701 Carmel Rd, Charlotte, NC

704-759-6000 mark.henninger@lennar.com

✔ ✔ ✔

11

Item 6.



Written metes and bounds description of property to be annexed 

Attach additional sheets if necessary. Petitioners must submit an electronic Microsoft Word version. Petitioners must email an 

electronic copy to jinman@bessemercity.com. 

OVERALL LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR THREE CONTIGUOUS GASTON COUNTY TAX PARCELS TO BE VOLUNTARILY ANNEXED INTO THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF 
BESSEMER CITY. 
 
BEING ALL OF GASTON COUNTY TAX PARCELS 151795 (BBB&C ENTERPRISES, LLC, DEED BOOK 4768, PAGE 2316), TAX PARCEL 220086 (BBB&C ENTERPRISES, LLC., DEED 
BOOK 4570, PAGE 4185), AND TAX PARCEL 305559 (BBB&C ENTERPRISES, LLC., DEED BOOK 4250 PAGE 385) AND BEING SHOWN ON A PLAT ENTITLED “ANNEXATION PLAT FOR 
THE CITY OF BESSEMER CITY”, PREPARED BY GPA, INC, AND SIGNED BY LAWRENCE J. WHITAKER, PLS ON MAY 24TH, 2022. THE OVERALL METES AND BOUNDS BOUNDARY 
OF THE LAND TO BE ANNEXED BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED TO WIT: 
 
 
 
COMMENCING AT NCGS MONUMENT “M-40”, SAID MONUMENT HAVING N GRID COORDINATES OF N: 566,433.54' E:1,317,797.65', THENCE N 68° 32’ 03” E 9,346.68’ TO A 
CONCRETE MONUMENT, SAID MONUMENT BEING THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SKY KING INC. AND THE POINT AND PLACE OF BEGINNING. THENCE WITH THE NORTHERN 
PROPERTY LINE OF SKY KING INC., N 87°45'59" W 467.73' TO A #3 REBAR, SAID REBAR BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF WILLIAM M. STOCKTON. THENCE WITH THE 
EASTERN LINE OF WILLIAM M. STOCKTON AND MAX D. BAXTER, THE FOLLOWING 2 CALLS (1) N 01°02'33" W 607.53' TO A #4 REBAR, (2) N 01°29'20" W 196.15' TO A #4 REBAR, 
SAID REBAR BEING THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF MAX D. BAXTER. THENCE WITH THE NORTHERN LINE OF MAX D. BAXTER, S 87°50'44" W 620.92' TO A NAIL, SAID NAIL BEING 
THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF JANET G. & EDWARD B. GOIN. THENCE N 22°02'36" E 638.37' TO A #4 REBAR, THENCE N 68°58'19" W 149.78' TO A #3 REBAR, SAID REBAR BEING A 
SHARED CORNER OF JANET GOIN AND TIMOTHY CHARLES, THENCE N 68°56'03" W 180.96' TO A #4 REBAR ON THE EASTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF COSTNER SCHOOL ROAD 
THENCE N 68°57'15" W 29.94' TO A POINT IN THE CENTER OF COSTNER SCHOOL ROAD, THENCE ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, N 21°05'15" E 324.54' TO A POINT, THENCE S 68°
40'40" E 29.52' TO A #3 REBAR ON THE EASTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF COSTNER SCHOOL ROAD, THENCE S 68°35'19" E 209.95' TO A #4 REBAR, SAID REBAR BEING THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF JOHN WILSON, THENCE N 21°23'36" E 210.06' TO A #4 REBAR, THENCE N 68°39'41" W 209.88' TO #4 REBAR ON THE EASTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 
COSTNER SCHOOL ROAD, THENCE N 68°38'41" W 26.28' TO A POINT IN THE CENTER OF SAID ROAD, THENCE WITH THE CENTER OF COSTNER SCHOOL ROAD, N 26°11'40" E 
149.19' TO A POINT, THENCE S 84°01'26" E 36.42' TO A #4 REBAR OF THE EASTERN RIGHT OF WAY OF COSTNER SCHOOL ROAD, THENCE S 77°59'15" E 3.41' TO A POINT, 
THENCE S 77°59’13” 216.59’ TO A NEW IRON, SAID IRON BEING THE SOUTHERNMOST CORNER OF CASEY & TERESA MACFARLANE, THENCE S 04°26'47" W 346.93' TO A 1” PIPE 
ON THE NORTHERN LINE OF BBB&C ENTERPRISES, LLC., THENCE WITH SAID LINE, THE FOLLOWING FOUR CALLS, (1) S 63°51'09" E 130.94' TO A #4 REBAR, (2) S 63°49'19" E 
334.64' TO A #4 REBAR, (3) S 63°55'17" E 255.07' TO A #4 REBAR, (4) N 52°48'47" E 143.51' TO A #3 REBAR ON THE SOUTHERN RIGHT OF WAY OF ARC STREET AS SHOWN ON 
MAP BOOK 32, PAGE 68 IN THE IREDELL COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS, THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, THE FOLLOWING FOUR CALLS (1) A CURVE TURNING TO THE 
LEFT HAVING A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF S 48°45'41" E 45.49' AND A RADIUS OF 242.19’ TO A #4 REBAR, (2) S 53°23'53" E 601.07' TO A #3 REBAR, (3) A CURVE 
TURNING TO THE LEFT HAVING A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF S 60°41'05" E 205.66' AND A RADIUS OF 812.41’ TO A #3 REBAR, (4) S 67°55'21" E 400.50' (PASSING A #4 
REBAR AT 317.42’) TO A #4 REBAR, SAID REBAR BEING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF MARY WRIGHT & CLAUDETTE WILSON, THENCE LEAVING THE SOUTHERN 
RIGHT-OF-WAY OF ARC STREET, THE FOLLOWING FOUR CALLS (1) S 01°46'54" W 364.11' TO 1” PIPE, (2) S 09°47'10" W 37.92' TO AN AXLE, (3) S 01°06'10" W 524.38' TO A TACK IN 
A STONE, (4) S 01°28'45" W 1459.69' (PASSING IRONS AT 101.94’, 680.88’, 904.53’, AND 1,153.68’) TO A NEW IRON PIN, THENCE WITH A NEW PROPERTY LINE, S 86°06'54" W 
1,106.69' TO A NEW IRON ON THE NORTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF DAISY LEE LANE AS SHOWN ON MAP BOOK 11, PAGE 48 IN THE IREDELL COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS. 
THENCE N 02°01'05" E 1576.05' TO A CONCRETE MONUMENT, THE POINT AND PLACE OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 4,234,307 SQUARE FEET OR 98.354 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 
 

12

Item 6.



13

Item 6.



14

Item 6.



 

Section E Supplemental Information 

In order for the City of Bessemer City to better serve annexation areas, now and in the future, the City 

requests the following information from you. Please give your best estimates where they are needed. 

Contact information for relative City Departments can be found at the end of the worksheet. Please indicate 

‘N/A’ for questions on which you have no information. 

 
Acreage of Area 

 

 
Current Population of Area 

 

 
Current Zoning of Area 

 

 
Desired City Zoning of Area 

 

 
Proposed Use (i.e. residential, commercial, or industrial) 

 

Estimated Total Value of Residential Units for the Proposed 

Development 

 

 
Total Proposed Number of Dwelling Units 

 

Type of Proposed Dwelling Units (Single Family Detached, 

Single Family Attached, Multi-Family) 

 

 
Year 1 

  
Year 2 

  
Year 3 

  
Year 4 

  
Year 5 

 

Estimated Total Value of Business Units for the Entire 

Proposed Development 

 

 
Commercial Value 

  
Industrial Value 

 
Other (not-for- 

profit) Value 

 

 
Proposed Number of Commercial 

 

 
Year 1 

  
Year 2 

  
Year 3 

  
Year 4 

  
Year 5 

 

 
Proposed Number of Industrial 

 

 
Year 1 

  
Year 2 

  
Year 3 

  
Year 4 

  
Year 5 

 

 
Proposed Number of Other (not-for-profit)? 

 

 
Year 1 

  
Year 2 

  
Year 3 

  
Year 4 

  
Year 5 

 

98.354

I-2 & UR
UR
Residential
60,440,256
162
SFD

0 45 48 48 21
NA

NA

NA

NA

15

Item 6.



Section E (continued) Supplemental Information 

Street Information 

Proposed total linear mileage of roadway installed 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Proposed total number of non-state maintained street miles 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

 

 

Water Information 

Typical water service(s) (i.e. ¾”, 1”, etc.) 
 

Number of services installed by developer (by service type) 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Number of services requested (by service type) 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Typical irrigation meter size(s) to be installed (i.e. 3/4 “, 1”, 

etc.) 

 

Number of Services Requested 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Estimated Mileage of Water Pipe Needed 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

 

 

Sewer Information 

Typical sewer service(s) (i.e. 4”, 6”, 8” etc.) 
 

Number of services installed by developer (by service type) 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Number of services requested (by service type) 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Estimated Mileage of Water Pipe Needed 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

8 Public Roads

1.53 Miles
1.53

N/A

3/4"
162

0 45 48 48 21
N/A

N/A
N/A

8" PIPE: 1.53 MILES, 3/4" PIPE: 0.64 MILES

2.17

4"
162

0 45 48 48 21
N/A

8" PVC PIPE: 1.41 MILES, 4" PVC PIPE: 1.00 MILES

2.41
16

Item 6.

drivera
PolyLine

drivera
Text Box
Sewer



Section E (continued) Supplemental Information 

Solid Waste Data 

Number of Rollouts needed for Multi-Family Units 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Number of commercial units using City rollout collection 
 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Number of commercial units needing corrugated (cardboard) 

recycling 

 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

Number of commercial units needing white paper pick-up 

(recycling) 

 

Year 1 
 

Year 2 
 

Year 3 
 

Year 4 
 

Year 5 
 

 

 

 

 
 

N/A
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

17

Item 6.



132 West Virginia Avenue · Bessemer City, NC 28016 · Phone: 704-629-5542 · Fax: 704-629-2237 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

        COBC-GOVBOD-2022-2023 O 5 

 

City of Bessemer City 
 

 
ORDINANCE TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY 

OF BESSEMER CITY, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
 

WHERAS, the City Council has been petitioned under GS 160A-31 to annex the area 

described below; and 

 

WHERAS, the City Council has directed the City Clerk to investigate the sufficiency of the 

petition; and  

 

WHERAS, the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and a public hearing on 

the question of this annexation was held in the Council Chambers of City Hall at 7:00PM on 

July 11, 2022, after due notice by publication in the Gaston Gazette on Wednesday, June 29th; 

and  

 

WHERAS, the City Council finds that the petition and annexation map meet the requirements 

of contiguous annexation found in GS 160A-31; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, 

North Carolina that:  

 

Section 1. By virtue of the territory described below is hereby annexed and made part of the 

City of Bessemer City as of July 11, 2022.  

 

Section 2. Upon and after July 11, 2022, the area described below shall be subject to all debts, 

laws, ordinances, and regulations in force in the City of Bessemer City and shall be entitled to 

the same privileges and benefits as other parts of the City of Bessemer City. Said territory shall 

be subject to municipal taxes according to GS 160A-58. l0. 

18

Item 7.



132 West Virginia Avenue · Bessemer City, NC 28016 · Phone: 704-629-5542 · Fax: 704-629-2237 

  

 

 

Section 3. The Mayor of the City of Bessemer City shall cause to be recorded in the office of 

the Register of Deeds of Gaston County, and in the office of the Secretary of State at Raleigh, 

North Carolina, an accurate map of the annexed territory together with a duly certified copy of 

this ordinance. Such a map shall also be delivered to the City Board of Elections, as required 

by GS 163-288.1.  

ANNEXATION AREA DESCRIPTION 

The area is 98.354 acres as shown on the deed recorded in Gaston County Registry by Tax 

Parcel Number 307413 in deed book 4768 and page 2316 respectively to which reference is 

hereby made for a fuller and complete description of said lot by metes and bounds.  

 

The following parcel #307413 is a part of a future residential development, Creekside 

Cottages.   

 

Also, Tax Parcel ID #307413 will be zoned to Urban Residential (UR). 

 

Adopted this 11th Day of July 2022.   
 
 
       ______________________________ 
                                    BECKY S. SMITH, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:  _____________________________ 
     HYDEIA Y. HAYES, CITY CLERK 

                                                                        
 
 
NORTH CAROLINA 
GASTON COUNTY 
 
This the _____ day of _________, ______, personally appeared before me, a Notary Public for 
said County and State, Hydeia Y. Hayes who being duly sworn to me says that she knows the 
common seal of the City of Bessemer City and is acquainted with Becky S. Smith, who is the 
Mayor and presiding member of said municipal corporation; and that she saw the Mayor sign the 
foregoing instrument and saw the common seal of the said municipal corporation affixed to said 
instrument by said Mayor, and that she, the said Hydeia Y. Hayes, signed her name in attestation 
of said instrument in the presence of said Mayor of said municipal corporation. 
 
Witness my hand and notarial seal, this the _____ day of _______, _____. 

 
 

   
       __________________________ 
           Notary Public 
 
My Commission expires _________________ 
 

 

Prepared By: Hydeia Y. Hayes (Bessemer City City Hall) 
 
Mail To: Bessemer City Hall 
  ATTN: Hydeia Hayes  
 132 W. Virginia Ave. 
 Bessemer City, NC 28016 

19

Item 7.



VICINITY MAP (NTS)

EST. 1987

PROFESSIONAL

LAND SURVEYORS

1 inch =        ft.100

P
R

E
P

A
R

E
D

 
F

O
R

L
A

N
N

A
R

 
C

A
R

O
L

I
N

A
'
S

,
 
L

L
C

C
A

R
L

O
T

T
E

,
 
N

C
.

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

S
H

O
W

I
N

G
 
P

A
R

C
E

L
 
I
D

 
#

3
0

5
5

5
9

(
P

O
R

T
I
O

N
 
O

F
)
 
&

 
2

2
0

0
8

6

O
W

N
E

D
 
B

Y

B
B

B
 
&

 
C

 
E

N
T

E
R

P
R

I
S

E
S

,
 
L

L
C

.

L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 
I
N

 
T

H
E

 
C

I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
B

E
S

S
E

M
E

R
 
C

I
T

Y
,
 
C

R
O

W
D

E
R

S
 
M

O
U

N
T

A
I
N

 
T

O
W

N
S

H
I
P

G
A

S
T

O
N

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
N

O
R

T
H

 
C

A
R

O
L

I
N

A

A
N

N
E

X
A

T
I
O

N
 
P

L
A

T
 
F

O
R

 
T

H
E

 
C

I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
B

E
S

S
E

M
E

R
 
C

I
T

Y
-
E

X
H

I
B

I
T

 
B

“

”

“ ”

”

”

”

”

20

Item 7.



VICINITY MAP (NTS)

EST. 1987

PROFESSIONAL

LAND SURVEYORS

P
R

E
P

A
R

E
D

 
F

O
R

L
A

N
N

A
R

 
C

A
R

O
L

I
N

A
'
S

,
 
L

L
C

C
A

R
L

O
T

T
E

,
 
N

C
.

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

S
H

O
W

I
N

G
 
P

A
R

C
E

L
 
I
D

 
#

3
0

5
5

5
9

(
P

O
R

T
I
O

N
 
O

F
)
 
&

 
2

2
0

0
8

6

O
W

N
E

D
 
B

Y

B
B

B
 
&

 
C

 
E

N
T

E
R

P
R

I
S

E
S

,
 
L

L
C

.

L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 
I
N

 
T

H
E

 
C

I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
B

E
S

S
E

M
E

R
 
C

I
T

Y
,
 
C

R
O

W
D

E
R

S
 
M

O
U

N
T

A
I
N

 
T

O
W

N
S

H
I
P

G
A

S
T

O
N

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
N

O
R

T
H

 
C

A
R

O
L

I
N

A

A
N

N
E

X
A

T
I
O

N
 
P

L
A

T
 
F

O
R

 
T

H
E

 
C

I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
B

E
S

S
E

M
E

R
 
C

I
T

Y
-
E

X
H

I
B

I
T

 
B

21

Item 7.



VICINITY MAP (NTS)

EST. 1987

PROFESSIONAL

LAND SURVEYORS

1 inch =        ft.100

P
R

E
P

A
R

E
D

 
F

O
R

L
A

N
N

A
R

 
C

A
R

O
L

I
N

A
'
S

,
 
L

L
C

C
A

R
L

O
T

T
E

,
 
N

C
.

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

S
H

O
W

I
N

G
 
P

A
R

C
E

L
 
I
D

 
#

3
0

5
5

5
9

(
P

O
R

T
I
O

N
 
O

F
)
 
&

 
2

2
0

0
8

6

O
W

N
E

D
 
B

Y

B
B

B
 
&

 
C

 
E

N
T

E
R

P
R

I
S

E
S

,
 
L

L
C

.

L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 
I
N

 
T

H
E

 
C

I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
B

E
S

S
E

M
E

R
 
C

I
T

Y
,
 
C

R
O

W
D

E
R

S
 
M

O
U

N
T

A
I
N

 
T

O
W

N
S

H
I
P

G
A

S
T

O
N

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
N

O
R

T
H

 
C

A
R

O
L

I
N

A

A
N

N
E

X
A

T
I
O

N
 
P

L
A

T
 
F

O
R

 
T

H
E

 
C

I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
B

E
S

S
E

M
E

R
 
C

I
T

Y
-
E

X
H

I
B

I
T

 
B

22

Item 7.



CHAPTER 93: ANIMALS 
 
93.01  Purpose 

93.02  Definitions 

93.03 Adoption of County Animal Ordinance 

93.04 Administration and Enforcement 

93.05 City constitutes bird sanctuary 

93.06 Possession or harboring of wild or exotic animals 

93.07  Livestock, chickens, or other domestic fowl 

93.08  Dogs and cats 

93.09  Animals at street fairs, festivals and parades  

93.10 Animals prohibited to be at large 

93.11  Maintenance of stables, pens, coops, and the like; abatement of nuisances 

93.12  Existing animals 

93.13  Service Animals  

93.14  Notice of violation  

93.99  Penalty 

 
 
§ 93.01 PURPOSE. 
 
Pursuant to the authority granted by the North Carolina General Assembly, this animal control chapter is 
enacted to regulate, restrict, or prohibit, if necessary, animals; to protect the public from unvaccinated, 
diseased, stray, roaming, dangerous, or wild animals; to make unlawful acts of animals that interfere with 
the enjoyment of property or the peace and safety of the community, and to carry out any other lawful 
duties authorized by state laws and applicable ordinances. 
 
(Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) 
Statutory reference: 
Authority to regulate, restrict domestic animals, see G.S. § 160A-186 
 
§ 93.02 DEFINTIONS 
 
Unless otherwise specifically provided or unless otherwise clearly required by the context, the following 
words and phrases shall have the meaning indicated when used in this chapter: 
 
(A) Administrator.  Any person designated by the manager to perform the responsibilities assigned by 

this chapter to the administrator. 
 

(B) Animal Ordinance. The ordinance entitled "Animals" as adopted by the Gaston County Board of 
Commissioners on February 23, 2008, updated on May 28, 2009, May 24, 2012 and November 
10, 2020, and including any subsequent amendments thereto by Gaston County in the future. 

 
(C) Domestic animal. A domesticated or tame animal that is kept as a pet, such as cats and dogs. 

Livestock and wild animals shall not be regarded as domestic animals. 
 
(D) Domestic animal pen. An area in which domestic animals are kept which is completely enclosed 

by a fence on all sides and has an area of no more than 200 square feet. 
 
(E) Livestock. Horses, mules, cows, pigs, goats, sheep, fowl (such as ducks, guineas, peacocks, 

turkeys, etc.), rabbits and all other animals that typically are kept primarily for productive or 
useful purposes rather than as pets. By exception and for purposes of this ordinance, rabbits 

23

Item 8.



kept as pets and not for productive purposes, the keeping of four (4) or less chickens 
accessory to a residential use, or the having or keeping of a pig commonly referred to as the 
miniature Vietnamese potbellied pig (sus scrofa vittatus) shall not be deemed livestock. 
 

(F) Wild Animal. Any animal which is: 
 
(1) Non-domesticated and normally found in the wild state, particularly those that are feral, 

aggressive, able to harbor or transmit disease, or dangerous, which, therefore, generally 
does not live in or about the habitation of humans. Because of its size or vicious 
propensity or because it is poisonous or for any other substantial reason, a wild animal 
poses a potential danger to persons, other animals or property; or, 
 

(2) Classified as a wild animal by the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission. 
 
§ 93.03 ADOPTION OF COUNTY ANIMAL ORDINANCE. 
 
The Animals Ordinance of the Code of Ordinances of Gaston County, as adopted by the Gaston County 
Board of Commissioners on February 23, 2008 and updated on May 28, 2009, May 24, 2012 and 
November 10, 2020, is hereby adopted in its entirety as an ordinance of the City. All subsequent 
amendments thereto shall likewise effective and enforceable in the city. A copy of said ordinance and all 
amendments thereto shall be kept on file in the office of the City Clerk. 
 
(Ord. passed 5-14-90; Am. Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) 
 
§ 93.04 ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
(A) Delegation to County. The City hereby authorizes Gaston County’s Animal Care and Enforcement 

to enforce the provisions of the animal control ordinance within the municipal limits of the City. 
The City is hereby authorized to enter into an agreement with Gaston County for the enforcement 
of the ordinance. 

 
(B) Standards within this text which are more specific than the Gaston County Animal Ordinance may 

be enforced by any employee of Bessemer City charged with the interpretation and /or 
enforcement of the Bessemer City Land Development Code and/or Code of Ordinances. 

 
§ 93.05 CITY CONSTITUTES BIRD SANCTUARY. 
 
The entire area of this city is hereby created and established as a bird sanctuary, and it shall be unlawful 
for any person within the city to hunt, kill, trap, or otherwise take any protected bird or to rob the nest of 
any protected bird in accordance with G.S. § 160A-188. 
 
('75 Code, § 3-6) (Ord. 6, passed 4-15-54; Am. Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) Penalty, 
see § 93.99 
Statutory reference: 
Authority, see G.S. § 160A-188 
 
§ 93.06 POSSESSION OR HARBORING OF WILD OR EXOTIC ANIMALS. 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to possess or harbor within the city any wild or exotic animal dangerous 
to persons or property or offensive to the senses; provided, that this section shall not apply to any circus 
or menagerie duly licensed by the city. These wild or exotic animals include, but not are limited to, deer, 
lions, non-human primates, bats, wolves and wolf hybrids, hyenas, felids, as regulated by the Captive 
Wildlife Safety Act, bears, elephants, rhinoceros, hippopotamus, exotic wild cattle crocodilians, venomous 
reptiles, constrictor snakes, raccoons, and skunks. 
 
('75 Code, § 3-1) (Am. Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) Penalty, § 93.99 

24

Item 8.



Statutory reference:  
For state law as to authority of City Council to enact this section, see G.S. §160A-187 
 
§ 93.07 LIVESTOCK, CHICKENS, OR OTHER DOMESTIC FOWL. 
 
(A) It shall be unlawful for any person to keep any horse, mule, donkey, hog, swine, cow, sheep, 

equine animals, bovine animals, llamas, alpaca, duck, chicken, turkey, pigeon or similar 
domesticated fowl, or goat (or similar animals), hereinafter designated livestock within the city 
limits except: 
 
(1) The only swine permitted on any residential lot are pet pigs (not livestock) housed inside 

a residential structure. 
  
(2) Chickens are permitted in accordance with the provisions of the City’s Land Development 

Code.  
 
(3) The provisions of this section shall not be applicable to bona fide farms. 
 
(4) For uses designated as a Class I or Class II Agricultural Use and permitted in accordance 

with the requirements of the Bessemer City Land Development Code. 
 
(B) A bona fide farm is defined as a farm use that includes the production and activities relating or 

incidental to the production of crops, grains, fruits, vegetables, ornamental and flowering plants, 
dairy, livestock, poultry, and all other forms of agriculture, as defined in G.S. 106-581.1.  

  
(Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.08 DOGS AND CATS. 
 
(A) It shall be unlawful for any person or occupants of any residential dwelling to keep more than four 

dogs, more than four cats, or any combination thereof, if such animals are routinely kept outside. 
An exception to this would be a kennel use, an approved Class II agricultural use, or a bona fide 
farm. 
 

(B) A kennel is an indoor or outdoor place where five (5) or more dogs or other domesticated animals 
are groomed, bred, boarded, trained, kept, and/or sold either as a principal use or an accessory 
to a residential use. A current license is required by the State Department of Agriculture to 
engage in the business of boarding, breeding, buying, letting for hire, training for a fee, or selling 
dogs and/or cats. The kennel requires a zoning permit, issued by the City, only permitted if 
meeting the requirements of the Bessemer City Land Development Code.    

 
(Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.09 ANIMALS AT STREET FAIRS, FESTIVALS AND PARADES. 
 
(A)  It shall be unlawful for any person that owns or possesses any animal, including dogs or cats, to 

possess, lead, keep, run or allow such animal to run at large within 150 feet of any street fair, 
festival or parade sanctioned or permitted by the city.  

 
(B)  This prohibition shall not apply to guide dogs or other guide animals for disabled persons under 

the control of such person. The prohibition shall not apply to licensed or permitted kennels or to 
animals legitimately a part of a parade, sanctioned street fair or festival. 

 
(C)  A sanctioned or permitted street fair, festival or parade is an event approved or permitted by the 

City Council of Bessemer City by resolution. The geographical limitations of the street fair, 
festival, or parade shall be delineated by the resolution. 

25

Item 8.



 
(Ord. passed 4-10-17) Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.10 ANIMALS PROHIBITED TO BE AT LARGE. 
 
(A) It shall be unlawful for any person to allow any animal, including any horse, barnyard animal, fowl, 

cattle or livestock, owned or harbored by said individual, to stray from the resident premises or to 
run at large within the city. 
 

(B) Every person owning or having possession, charge, care, custody, or control of any animal shall 
keep such animal exclusively upon that individual's real property. However, such animal may be 
off the owner's real property if it is under the direct control of a person and physically restrained 
by a chain, leash or harness of sufficient strength and condition to effectively restrain the animal 
and held in the hand of said person. An animal can only be under the physical control of a person 
if that individual is able to effectively restrain the animal. 

 
('75 Code, § 3-2) (Ord. TC00-2, passed 2-14-00; Am. Ord. passed 7-14-03; Am. Ord.  
passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.11 MAINTENANCE OF STABLES, PENS, COOPS, AND THE LIKE; ABATEMENT OF 
NUISANCES. 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to own, keep, possess, or maintain an animal in such a manner as to 
constitute a public nuisance to neighbors: 
 
(A) Each stable, pen, domestic animal pen, coop, or other place within the city where any animal or 

fowl is kept shall be maintained by the keeper at all times in a clean and sanitary condition and 
free of offensive odors and solid and liquid waste matter and does not threaten the health, safety 
or welfare of the public. 
 

(B) Animals shall not disturb the rights, threaten the safety of, or damage a member of the general 
public or interfere with the ordinary use and enjoyment of their property. 
 

(C) Animals shall not damage the property of anyone other than its owner, including but not limited to 
turning over garbage containers, digging or destroying gardens, or defecating upon the property 
of another. 
 

(D) The maintenance of the property shall be upkept and in good order based on the number, type, 
variety, density, and location of the animals on the property. All domestic animal pens and other 
structures shall be located behind the principal structure on the property. 
 

(E) Animals on any premises shall be allowed to remain only with adequate housing and protection 
from the elements, consisting of shelter of sufficient height and strength, constructed for the 
express purpose of housing animals. 

 
Any place where an animal or fowl is kept which is found to be in violation of this section shall be deemed 
a public nuisance, subject to abatement by the city at the expense of the person responsible therefor or 
the owner of the property whereon it exists 
 
('75 Code, § 3-4) (Am. Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) Penalty, see § 93.99 
Statutory reference: 
Authority, see G.S. § 160A-182 
 
 
§ 93.09 EXISTING ANIMALS. 
 

26

Item 8.



The maximum number of animals may not be legally increased as a result of an animal giving birth. Any 
livestock legally existing on a lot prior to January 1, 2022 that is in nonconformance with this chapter must 
conform to these regulations within six months. 
 
(Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.10 SERVICE ANIMALS. 
 
Service animals as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), Fair Housing Act and North 
Carolina General Statutes are exempt from the provisions of this chapter. 
(Ord. passed 3-10-14) 
 
 
§ 93.12 NOTICE OF VIOLATION 
 
Upon investigation and finding by a Code Enforcement Officer or an Animal Control Officer that there 
exists on any city property a violation of this Chapter, the Officer shall issue a notice of violation by first-
class mail to the violator as well as the owner of such property if different from the violator. The notice 
shall state that the alleged violator or property owner shall have a period of up to ten (10) days from the 
date the notice was received to either correct the situation or appeal the Officer’s decision to the Town 
Manager. The notice required by this division may also be served upon persons either personally or 
posted conspicuously on the offending property. Depending on the nature of the violation, the Officer may 
grant one or more extension of time to cure or correct said violation. When a person has failed to comply 
with a notice of violation as described above, the Officer shall not be required to provide further notice of 
violation to that person with regard to the same property before taking any of the enforcement actions 
authorized by § 93.99. 
 
(Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14) 
 
 
§ 93.99 PENALTY. 
 
(A)  If compliance has not occurred within the period specified above, or if a violation of this chapter is 

a single, discrete event, a civil penalty in the amount of $50 shall be issued and either delivered in 
person to the violator or sent by certified mail. The citation shall direct that the citation be paid to 
the city collections department within ten days of the date of issuance and shall inform the violator 
that if this amount is not paid within the allotted time, a civil action can be initiated to collect the 
citation. 

 
(B)  Each day’s continuing violation of any provision of this chapter shall be a separate and distinct 

offense resulting is $50 fee per day until the violation is corrected. 
 
(C)  This chapter may also be enforced by any appropriate equitable action, including injunctions or 

orders of abatement. 
 
(D)  A violation of any provision of this chapter shall be a misdemeanor as provided in G.S. § 14-4 and 

shall subject each such violator to the punishment provided in that section of the General 
Statutes. 

 
(E)  The Enforcement Officer may enforce this chapter by any one or any combination of the 

foregoing remedies. 
 
 
(Am. Ord. passed 5-11-09; Am. Ord. passed 3-10-14; Am. Ord. passed 4-10-17) 
 
 

27

Item 8.



 

28

Item 8.



 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 93 OF THE CITY OF BESSEMER CITY 

CODE OF ORDINANCES AND REGULATIONS IN THE CITYOF BESSEMER 

CITY LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE SPECIFIC TO THE CODE OF 

ORDINACNES 

 

WHEREAS, after proper notification a Public Hearing was held before the Bessemer City Council on July 11, 

2022 to consider a proposed amendment to the City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances and Land 

Development Code.  

WHEREAS, after a vote, the City Council of Bessemer City approved a text change to the    

City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances reflected in Chapter 93 of the City of Bessemer City Code of 

Ordinances. 

WHEREAS, after a_______________vote, the City Council of Bessemer City approved a text change to the 

City of Bessemer City Land Development Code strictly related to and supplemental to the amendments with 

Chapter 93: Animals of the City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances as it pertains to the zoning regulation 

of animal land usage and placement of ancillary structures on lots as they relate to the housing or keeping of 

regulated animals. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, that the City of 

Bessemer City Code of Ordinances is amended to reflect the adopted changes as written below. 

1. CHAPTER 93 ANIMALS. 

2. LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE CHANGES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Agricultural Use, Defined as: 

“The production of plants and animals useful to man, including but not limited to: forages and sod crops; 

grains and seed crops; dairy animals and dairy products, poultry and poultry products; rheas, ostrich, emu, 

livestock, including beef cattle, sheep, swine, llamas, horses, ponies, [NOTE: Horses and ponies must be 

raised commercially on a horse farm for the purpose of sale to qualify as an “agricultural use” and are distinct 

from riding stables or boarding facilities, which do not quality as an “agricultural use”], mules, or goats or 

any mutations or hybrids thereof, including the breeding and grazing of any or all of such animals; bees and 

apiary products; fur animals; trees and forest products; fruits of all kinds, including nuts; vegetables; nursery, 

floral and ornamental products; or lands devoted to a soil conservation or forestry management program. In 

addition, an “agricultural use” shall also include land used as pasture or in the commercial production of fish 

hatcheries or aquaculture. An “agricultural use” shall also include the keeping of livestock for commercial 

or noncommercial purposes. Livestock includes but is not limited to poultry and hoofed animals such as 

cattle, horses, swine, goats, and sheep. Also included in this definition of agricultural uses are agricultural 

accessory buildings, and sales of agricultural products grown or raised on the premises. Not included in this 

definition are the commercial slaughtering of animals for marketing and farm tenant dwellings. Other uses 

which shall not be deemed as “agricultural uses” include (i) zoos and (ii) kennels. For the purposes of this 

Code, “agricultural uses” are divided into three classes:  

 
29

Item 9.



 Agricultural Uses, Class I: Low impact, residentially compatible, accessory agricultural uses, such 

as community and backyard gardens, bee keeping, chicken coops / hen keeping, and similar uses.  

 

 Agricultural Uses, Class II: The growing of all agricultural and horticultural products (e.g., corn, 

soybeans, cotton), nurseries, and commercial greenhouses. Riding academies, riding corrals and 

tracks, and boarding stables; any other animal husbandry use, except that listed herein as a Class III 

use. Any Class I use as a principal use or exceeding the standards allowed for a Class I use. 

 

 Agricultural Uses, Class III: Dairy barns; high-density cattle pens; stock yards; poultry houses; 

manure storage; hog parlors; hog and rabbit meat production centers 

 

2.8.V. Agricultural Uses  

  

Class I 

 

1. Chicken (Hen) Keeping. Where the minimum lot size meets or exceeds seven thousand (7,000) square 

feet, up to four (4) hens are allowed subject to meeting standards below and following Chapter 93 of the 

Code of Ordinances.  

 

a. Hens are permitted on lots with single-family detached dwelling units only. 

 

b. Hens must be kept in a coop and pen, or portable chicken tractors, and such coops and enclosures 

may not include residential structures or garages. All hens must be secured in the chicken coop 

during non-daylight hours.   

 

c. Chicken coops, pens, and tractors (whether stationary or moveable) must be located in rear yards 

only (behind the line formed by the back wall of the residence.) 

 

d. A minimum setback of fifteen (15) feet is required from the side and rear property lines. 

 

e. The coop and pen must be closer to the chicken owner’s primary residential unit than neighboring 

residential unit. 

 

f. No more than eight (4) hens are permitted on any lot within the municipal limits of Bessemer 

City.  Roosters are prohibited and shall not be considered a Class I agricultural use. 

 

g. All aspects of keeping chickens shall be personal and noncommercial. No sales of rendered eggs 

shall be permitted on the property. 

 

2. Beekeeping. All Bessemer City regulations for the act of domestic beekeeping have been adopted in 

accordance with Article 8 of Chapter 160A and subsection 106-645 Article 55 of the North Carolina 

General Statutes and The North Carolina Bee and Honey Act of 1977.  

The City encourages domestic beekeeping as a hobby, but beekeeping at a scale that is indicative of a 

production process shall be operated as an agriculture operation (Class II) and located on suitable 

lands, not as an accessory use. Domestic beekeeping shall be permitted as an accessory use and 

shall only occur in accordance with the following requirements: 

 

a. Beekeeping shall only be allowed on properties with single-family, detached units only. 

 

b. The maximum number of hives allowed on properties within the City limits shall be no more than 

five (5) hives per lot. 

 

(1) No hive shall be established or kept within fifteen (15) feet of any property line. 30

Item 9.



 

(2) A constant and adequate on-site source of freshwater shall be provided and shall be 

located closer to the hive than any water source on adjacent property. 

 

(3) The hives shall be placed at ground level or otherwise securely attached to an anchor or 

stand. 

Other 

 

1. Agricultural sales which include products grown elsewhere, or goods processed or manufactured on site, 

shall be considered a retail use. 

 

2. Any agricultural sales shall require the provision of on-site parking spaces. 

 

3. Class III uses are not permitted. 

 

Animal Kennel – An indoor or outdoor place where more than five (5) dogs or other domesticated animals 

are groomed, bred, boarded, trained, kept, and/or sold either as a principal use or an accessory to a residential 

use. 

 

Pet Services – An indoor facility for grooming (shampooed, clipped, etc.), boarding, retail sales, or other 

services provided to small animals, typically considered as household pets. Examples include a doggy 

daycare or a pet spa. For the purpose of this definition, animals shall exclude horses, cattle, swine, sheep, 

goats, geese, or fowl. All animal activities at this facility will be compliant with the North Carolina Animal 

Welfare Act. 

 

2.8.EE Kennels 

 

1. Outdoor kennel space must be at least four hundred (400) feet away from residential or mixed-use 

property lines. 

 

2. Kennels shall be designed to buffer all noise audible to surrounding properties. Noise from the dog or 

cats will not substantially interfere with an abutting occupant’s use and peaceful enjoyment of the 

property. 

 

3. Any odor or unsanitary conditions caused by the dogs or cats will not substantially interfere with an 

abutting occupant’s use and peaceful enjoyment of the property. There is no evidence that the dogs or 

cats pose any health problems or disease exposure for abutting occupants. 

 

4.  Outdoor structures must meet all applicable setback requirements and are not permitted to be located to 

the front of front building line of the primary structure. When in use with the primary structure, the 

outdoor structure shall be subordinate in height, footprint, and proportion to the primary structure on 

the site, and shall be compatible with the principal structure in terms of roof form, materials, and color. 

 

5. More than five dog runs or other dog-related structures or any combinations thereof shall not be 

permitted if the structures can be seen from an abutting occupant’s property in a residentially zoned 

district. 

 

6. Subject to any additional regulations noted in Chapter 93 of the Animal Code of Ordinances 

 

Removing both definitions for Bona fide Farms and Farm, Bona fide from Section 10.1 and only having the 

definition listed in Section 10.2. 

 

 31

Item 9.



 

 

Effective Date 

This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, 

North Carolina. 
 

Adopted by City Council this 11th Day of July, 2022. 
 

 

 

Becky S. Smith, Mayor 
 

Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 
COBC-GOVBOD-2022-2023 O 1 

32

Item 9.



PLAN CONSISTENCY & STATEMENT OF REASONABLENESS 

TEXT AMENDMENT 03-2022 

July 11, 2022 

 
Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §160D-605 the City of Bessemer City Council hereby approves 
and adopts the following Plan Consistency and Statement of Reasonableness for the text 
amendment of the Land Development Code of the City of Bessemer City, North Carolina. 
 
1) Said text changes are consistent with the goals and values established by the City 

Council adopted in 2019.  

a. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following seven 
values: 1. Open, Honest and Accessible Government, 2. Fiscal Accountability and 
Sustainability, 3. Public Safety and Safe and Accessible Neighborhoods, 4. Keeping True to 
Our Small-Town Character and Traditions, 5. Focused on Quality and Customer Service, 6. 
Family Oriented, 7. Promote a Healthy Quality of Life. These text amendments are 
consistent with these values.  

b. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following 
eight goals: 1. A desirable place to live and work that is open to growth, 2. A safe and 
secure community for residents and visitors, 3. A sustainable community with high 
quality and dependable infrastructure and utilities, 4. A thriving, viable and diverse 
economy, 5. Provide opportunities for our citizens, 6. Sustainable organizational 
capacity, 7. Embrace innovation and promote creativity, 8. Promote a healthy quality 
of life. These text amendments are consistent with these goals.   

 

2) The text amendments would not be detrimental to the city and ETJ. 

a. The physical condition that make the text amendments reasonable are: 

• Provides for systematic zoning and land usage regulation changes that 
preserves and protects our existing neighborhoods and promotes diverse ways 
of life that do not take away from our small town character.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Therefore, the requested text amendments are reasonable and in the public interest. 

Upon a motion that the application is consistent with the Bessemer City Planning and 
Economic Development Comprehensive Land Use Vision. 33

Item 9.



Read, approved and adopted this the 11th day of July, 2022. 

 
ATTEST CITY COUNCIL FOR THE  
 CITY OF BESSEMER CITY 

 
BY   

Hydeia Hayes, City Clerk Becky S. Smith, Mayor 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 

 
Dan O’Shea, City Attorney 

34

Item 9.



CHAPTER 150: BUILDING AND MINIMUM HOUSING REGULATIONS 
 
Minimum Standard Housing Code 
 
General Provisions 
 
150.065  Short title 

150.066  Exercise of police power; finding; purpose 

150.067  Scope  

150.068  Definitions  

150.069 Conflict with other provisions 

150.070  Existing buildings   

 

Requirements and Standards for Structures 

 

150.071  Maintenance of buildings  

150.072  Utility services to substandard buildings or dwelling units 

150.073 Issuance of permit prior to inspection of substandard buildings or dwelling units 

150.074  Certificate of compliance  

150.075  Minimum standards of fitness  

150.076  Plumbing systems and equipment 

150.077  Ventilation 

150.078  Electrical systems 

150.079  Heating 

150.080  Space; use and location 

150.081  Safe and sanitary maintenance 

150.082  Insects, rodents, and infestations 

150.083  Structural condition 

150.084 Rooming house and dwelling unit minimum standards 

150.085 Abandoned structures 

150.086  Responsibilities of owners and occupants 

 

Administration and Enforcement 

 

150.087 Housing Inspector; duties and powers 

150.088  Preliminary investigation; notice; hearing 

150.089  Procedure after hearing; written order 

150.090  Failure to comply with order  

150.091  Abandonment of intent to repair. 

150.092 Civil penalties; recovery of costs 

150.093  Service of complaints and orders. Additional notices.  

150.094  Periodic Inspections 

150.095 Remedies; appeals from orders of Housing Inspector 

150.096  Costs and fee schedule 

150.097  Compensation to owners of condemned property 
 

35

Item 10.



MINIMUM STANDARD HOUSING CODE 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
§ 150.065 SHORT TITLE. 
 
This subchapter shall be known and may be cited as “The Minimum Standard Housing Code of the City of 
Bessemer City,” and will be hereinafter called this subchapter. 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) 
 
§ 150.066 EXERCISE OF POLICE POWER; FINDING; PURPOSE. 
 
(A)  Dwellings. 
 

(1) Finding. Pursuant to G.S. § 160D-1201, it is hereby found and declared by the City 
Council that there exists in the city dwellings which are unfit for human habitation due to 
dilapidation, defects increasing the hazards of fire, accidents and other calamities, lack of 
ventilation, light and sanitary facilities, and due to other conditions rendering such 
dwellings unsafe or unsanitary, and dangerous and detrimental to the health, safety, and 
morals, and otherwise inimical to the welfare of the residents of the city. 

 
(2) Purpose. In order to protect the health, safety and welfare of the residents of the city as 

authorized by G.S. Ch. 160D, it is the purpose of this subchapter to establish minimum 
standards of fitness for the initial and continued occupancy of all buildings used for 
human habitation, as expressly authorized by G.S. § 160D-1205, and to provide 
procedures for the repair, closing and demolition of buildings not conforming to such 
minimum standards of fitness, as expressly authorized by G.S. § 160D-1203. 

 
(B) Abandoned Structures. The City, in the provisions of the Code, provides for the repair, closing, or 

demolition of any abandoned structure that the City Council finds to be a health or safety hazard 
as a result of the attraction of insects or rodents, conditions creating a fire hazard, dangerous 
conditions constituting a threat to children, or frequent use by vagrants as living quarters in the 
absence of sanitary facilities. This ordinance provides for the repair, closing, or demolition of such 
structure pursuant to the same provisions and procedures as are prescribed by this Code for the 
repair, closing, or demolition of dwellings found to be unfit for human habitation, above, in 
subsection (A). 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) 
 
§ 150.067 SCOPE. 
 
(A)  This code is hereby declared to be remedial, and shall be construed to secure the beneficial 

interests and purposes hereof which are public safety, health, and general welfare through 
structural strength, stability, sanitation, adequate light and ventilation, and safety to life and 
property from fire and other hazards incident to the construction, alteration, repair, removal, 
demolition, use and occupancy of dwellings, apartment houses, rooming houses, or buildings, 
structures, or premises used as such. 

 
(B) Except as otherwise provided, the provisions of this subchapter shall apply to all dwellings, 

boarding houses or rooms, rooming houses, and lodging facilities within the jurisdiction of the 
City, regardless of when such units were constructed, altered, repaired, or improved. 

 
(C)  No provision of this code shall be held to deprive any federal or state agency, or any municipal 

authority having jurisdiction, of any power or authority which it had on the effective date of this 

36

Item 10.



subchapter, or of any remedy then existing for the enforcement of its orders, nor shall it deprive 
any individual or corporation of its legal rights as provided by law. 

 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) 
Cross-reference: 
See Chapter 151, Mobile Homes 
 
§ 150.068 DEFINITIONS. 
 
For the purpose of this subchapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly 
indicates or requires a different meaning. Whenever the words “apartment”, “apartment house”, 
“dwelling”, “dwelling unit”, “rooming house”, “rooming unit”, “premises”, or “structure” are used in this 
code, they shall be construed as though they were followed by the words, “or any part thereof.” 
 
ABANDONED STRUCTURE. Any structure that has not been occupied or used, by its owner or by some 
person acting under the authority of its owners, for a continuous period of thirty (30) days or longer 
 
ALTER or ALTERATION. Any change or modification in construction or occupancy. 
 
APARTMENT. A room or a suite of rooms occupied, or which is intended or designated to be occupied, 
as the home or residence of one individual, family or household, for housekeeping purposes. 
 
APARTMENT HOUSE. See MULTIPLE DWELLING. 
 
APPROVED. Approved by the Housing Inspector or his authorized agent. 
 
AREA. As applied to the dimensions of a building, the maximum horizontal projected area of the building 
at grade (See FLOOR AREA). 
 
ATTIC STORY. Any story situated wholly or partly in the roof, so designated, arranged, or built as to be 
used for business, storage, or habitation. 
 
BASEMENT. A portion of a building located partly underground but having more than one half (½) of its 
clear floor-to-ceiling height (by cubic measurement) above the average grade of the adjoining ground and 
having direct access to light and air from windows located above the level of the adjoining ground. 
 
BUILDING. Any structure built for the support, shelter, or enclosure of persons, animals, chattels, or 
property of any kind. 
 
BUILDING CODE. Any edition, together with all adopted amendments and supplements thereto, of the 
North Carolina State Building Code or of the North Carolina State Residential Building Code, or any other 
building rules or regulations adopted by the city relating to the buildings and structures. 
 
BUILDING, EXISTING. A building erected prior to the adoption of this code, or one for which a legal 
building permit has been issued. 
 
CELLAR. A portion of a building located partly or wholly underground, having one half (½) or more of its 
clear floor-to-ceiling height (by cubic measurement) below the average grade of the adjoining ground, and 
having an inadequate access to light and air from windows located partly or wholly below the level of the 
adjoining ground. 
 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE. A certificate which is issued once a structure has been deemed in 
compliance with this code. 
 

37

Item 10.



CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY. A certificate which is issued once a dwelling has been certified to meet 
the requirements of the housing code and it may be occupied by persons.  
 
CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICIAL. The public officer or duly authorized representative, that shall have 
the authority to attempt to accomplish the repair, closing, or demolition of unsafe abandoned structures. 
The Code Enforcement Official shall also act as a duly authorized representative of the HOUSING 
INSPECTOR.  
 
DETERIORATED. A dwelling which is unfit for human habitation that can be repaired, altered, or 
improved to comply with all of the minimum standards established by this Code, at a cost not in excess of 
fifty percent (50%) of its value, as determined by the Housing Inspector. Repair at a cost not in excess of 
fifty percent (50%) of the value is hereby deemed reasonable pursuant to G.S. § 160D-1203(3)(a). 
 
DILAPIDATED. A dwelling that is unfit for human habitation and can be repaired, altered, or improved to 
comply with all of the minimum standards established by this chapter only at a cost in excess of fifty 
percent (50%) of its value, as determined by the Housing Inspector. Repair at a cost in excess of fifty 
percent (50%) of the value is hereby deemed unreasonable pursuant to G.S. § 160D-1203(3)(b). 
 
DWELLING. Any building, structure, manufactured home or mobile home, or part thereof, used  
and occupied for human habitation or intended to be so used, and includes any outhouses and  
appurtenances belonging thereto or usually enjoyed therewith, except that it does not include any  
manufactured home or mobile home, which is used solely for a seasonal vacation purpose. 
 
DWELLING UNIT. Any room or group of rooms located within a dwelling, building or structure and forming 
a single habitable unit with facilities which are used or intended to be used for living, sleeping, cooking, 
and eating. This includes any living arrangements, including living arrangements in hotels, motels, lodges, 
and other similar establishments where any individual, family or extended family resides in the same unit  
or complex for more than seven consecutive days within a 30-day period and the living arrangements 
constitute the principal residence of the occupant(s). A living arrangement shall not be considered a 
principal residence regardless of the length of stay if it is the result of a temporary employment 
assignment. 
 
EXTERMINATION. The control and elimination of insects, rodents, or other pests by eliminating their 
harborage places; by removing or making inaccessible materials that may serve as their food; by 
poisoning, spraying, fumigating, trapping; or by any other recognized and legal pest elimination method 
approved by the Housing Inspector. 
 
FLOOR AREA. The area included within surrounded walls of a building exclusive of vent shafts and 
courts. 
 
GARBAGE. The animal and vegetable waste resulting from handling, preparation, cooking, and 
consumption of food. 
 
HABITABLE ROOM. A room used or intended to be used by one or more persons for living, eating, or 
sleeping purposes, excluding bathrooms, water closet compartments, laundries, serving and storage 
pantries, corridors, cellars, and spaces that are not used frequently or during extended periods. 
 
HEATING. The definitions following under HEATING shall apply to heating installations: 

 
(1)  CENTRAL HEATING BOILERS AND FURNACES. Includes warm air furnaces, floor- 

mounted, direct-fired unit heaters, hot water boilers, and steam boilers operating at not in 
excess of 15 pounds of gauge pressure, used for heating of buildings or structures. 

 
(2)  CHIMNEY. A vertical shaft of masonry, reinforced concrete, or other approved 

noncombustible, heat resisting material enclosing one or more flues, for the purpose of 
removing products of combustion from solid, liquid, or gas fuel. 

38

Item 10.



 
(3)  FLUE. A vertical passageway for products of combustion. 
 
(4)  VENT PIPE. As applied to heating, means a pipe for removing products of combustion 

from gas appliances. 
 
(5)  WATER HEATER. A device for the heating and storage of water to be used for other than 

heating or industrial purposes. 
 
HOUSING INSPECTOR. The public officer or their duly authorized representative, authorized to exercise 
the powers of this code. 
 
INFESTATION. The presence, within or around a dwelling, of any insects, rodents, or other pests in such 
number as to constitute a menace to the health, safety or welfare of the occupants or the public. 
 
MULTIPLE DWELLING. Any dwelling containing more than one (1) dwelling unit. 
 
OCCUPANT. Any person, over one year of age, living, sleeping, cooking, or eating in, or having actual 
possession of, a dwelling unit or rooming unit. 
 
OPENABLE AREA. That part of a window or door which is available for unobstructed ventilation, and 
which opens directly to the outdoors. 
 
OPERATOR. Any person who has charge, care, or control of a building, or part thereof, in which dwelling 
units or rooming units are let. 
 
ORDINARY MINIMUM WINTER CONDITIONS. The temperature 20° F. above the lowest recorded 
temperature for the previous 15-year period. 
 
OWNER. The holder of the title in fee simple and every mortgagee of record. 
PARTIES IN INTEREST. All individuals, associations, and corporations who have interests of record in a 
dwelling and any who are in possession thereof. 
 
PERSON. A natural person, his heirs, executors, administrators, or assigns, and also includes a firm, 
partnership, or corporation, its or their successors or assigns, or the agent of any of the aforesaid. 
 
PLUMBING. The practice, materials, and fixtures used in the installation, maintenance, extension, and 
alteration of all piping, fixtures, appliances, and appurtenances in connection with any of the following: 

 
(1)  Sanitary drainage or storm drainage facilities. 
 
(2)  The venting system and the public or private water supply system, and the public or 

private water supply systems within or adjacent to any building, structure, or conveyance. 
 
(3)  The practice and materials used in the installation, maintenance, extension, or alteration 

of storm water, liquid waste, or sewerage, and water supply systems of any premises to 
their connection with any point of public disposal or other acceptable terminal. 

 
PUBLIC AUTHORITY. Any housing authority or any officer who is in charge of any department or branch 
of the government of the city, county, or State relating to health, fire, building regulations, or other 
activities concerning dwellings in the city. 
 
PUBLIC OFFICER. The officer(s)who are authorized by this Code to exercise the powers prescribed by 
this Code and by this Article 12 of N.C.G.S. Chapter 160D. See also, CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICIAL 
and HOUSING INSPECTOR. 
 

39

Item 10.



ROOMING HOUSE. Any dwelling, or that part of any dwelling containing one or more rooming units, in 
which space is let by the owner or operator to three (3) or more persons who are not husband or wife, son 
or daughter, mother or father, or sister or brother of the owner or operator. 
 
ROOMING UNIT. Any room or group of rooms forming a single habitable unit or intended to be used for 
living and sleeping, but not for cooking or eating purposes. 
 
RUBBISH. Combustible and noncombustible waste materials, except garbage. The term shall include the 
residue from the burning of wood, coal, coke, and other combustible material, paper, rags, cartons, 
boxes, wood excelsior, rubber, leather, tree branches, yard trimmings, tin cans, metals, mineral matter, 
glass, crockery, and dust. 
 
SUBSTANDARD DWELLING or STRUCTURE. A dwelling, dwelling unit, multiple dwelling, apartment, 
apartment house or any other space used or intended to be used as a habitable living space in any 
building or a structure which does not meet the basic minimum requirements of this code for such use. 
 
SUPPLIED. Paid for, furnished, or provided by or under the control of the owner or operator. 
 
TEMPORARY HOUSING. Any tent, trailer or other structure used for human shelter which is designed to 
be transportable, and which is not attached to the ground, to another structure or to any utilities system 
on the same premises for more than thirty (30) consecutive days. 
 
UNFIT FOR HUMAN HABITATION. Conditions that exist in a dwelling which violate or do not comply with 
one or more of the minimum standards of fitness or one or more of the provisions established by this 
code. 
 
WALLS.  
 

(1)  BEARING WALL. A wall which supports any vertical load in addition to its own weight. 
 
(2)  EXTERIOR WALL. A wall, bearing or non-bearing, which is used as an enclosing wall for 

a building, but which is not necessarily suitable for use as a party wall or fire wall. 
 
(3)  FOUNDATION WALL. A wall below the first floor extending below the adjacent ground 

level and serving as support for a wall, pier, column, or other structural part of a building. 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 4-9-12) 
 
§ 150.069 CONFLICT WITH OTHER PROVISIONS. 
 
(A) In the event any provision, standard, or requirement of this code is found to be in conflict with any 

provision of any other ordinance or code of the city, the provision which establishes the higher 
standard or more stringent requirement for the promotion and protection of the health and safety 
of the residents of the city shall prevail. 

 
(B) Nothing in this Code shall be construed to abrogate or impair the powers of the courts or of any 

department of the City to enforce any provisions of its charter or its ordinances or regulations nor 
to prevent or punish violations thereof. The powers conferred by this Code shall be supplemental 
to the powers conferred by any other law in carrying out the provisions of the ordinances. 

 
§ 150.070  EXISTING BUILDINGS. 
 
The provisions of this code shall apply to any dwelling, apartment house, or rooming house irrespective of 
when the building was constructed, altered, or repaired: 
 

40

Item 10.



(A)  If, within any period of twelve (12) months, alterations or repairs are made to an existing building 
costing in excess of fifty percent (50%) of the then physical value of the building, such building 
shall be made to conform to the requirements of the building code for like new buildings. 

 
(B)  If an existing building is damaged by fire or otherwise in excess of fifty percent (50%) of its then 

physical value before such damage is repaired, it shall be made to conform to the requirements of 
the building code for new buildings. 

 
(C)  If the cost of such alterations or repairs, or the amount of such damage, is more than twenty-five 

percent (25%) but not more than fifty percent (50%) of the then physical value of the building, the 
portions to be altered or repaired shall be made to conform to the requirements of the building 
code for the new building to such extent as the Housing Inspector may determine. 

 
(D)  Repairs and alterations not covered by divisions (A) through (C) of this section, restoring a 

building to its condition previous to damage or deterioration, or altering it in conformity with the 
provisions of the building code or in such manner as will not extend or increase an existing 
nonconformity or hazard, may be made with the same kind of materials as those of which the 
building is constructed. 

 
(E)  For the purposes of this section the physical value of a building or structure, as hereinbefore 

mentioned, shall be determined by the Housing Inspector, and they shall use as a guideline the 
fair market value of the building exclusive of land. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
Requirements and Standards for Structures 
 
§ 150.071 MAINTENANCE OF BUILDINGS. 
 
All buildings or structures, both existing and new, and all parts thereof, shall be maintained in a safe and 
sanitary condition. All devices or safeguards which are required by this code in a building when erected, 
altered, or repaired, shall be maintained in good working order. The owner, or his designated agent, shall 
be responsible for the maintenance of buildings, structures, and premises. 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.072 UTILITY SERVICES TO SUBSTANDARD BUILDINGS OR DWELLING UNITS. 
 
The city shall not provide, nor allow another to provide (either public or private) utility services such as 
water, gas, electricity, sewer, and the like, to any substandard building or dwelling unit which becomes 
vacant until such building or dwelling has been inspected, brought into compliance with this code, and a 
valid certificate of compliance, as required, has been issued. This requirement shall not preclude the 
temporary use of such utility services as may be deemed necessary during construction, repair, or 
alteration. The Housing Inspector shall be responsible for making the determination as to when such 
temporary services may be necessary. 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.073 ISSUANCE OF PERMIT PRIOR TO INSPECTION OF SUBSTANDARD BUILDINGS OR 
DWELLING UNITS. 
 
No building, plumbing, electrical, gas or other permit, as may be required, for an addition, alteration or 
repair of an existing substandard building or dwelling unit shall be issued until such time as an inspection 
of the property has been made to determine the feasibility of rehabilitation of such building or dwelling 
unit. 
 

41

Item 10.



(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.074 CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE. 
 
No person shall occupy or allow another to occupy, or hold out for intended use, or allow another to hold 
out for intended use for human habitation any building, dwelling unit, or rooming unit designed or intended 
to be used for the purpose of human habitation which does not comply with the standards of this code 
and for which a valid certificate of compliance has not been issued. 
 
§ 150.075 MINIMUM STANDARDS OF FITNESS. 
 
All buildings, dwelling units, and rooming units shall provide for a healthful environment with living 
facilities arranged and equipped to assure such a condition. Under § 150.076 through 150.086 appear the 
fundamental requirements of this code which shall be observed in determining the fitness of a building for 
human habitation. 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.076 PLUMBING SYSTEMS AND EQUIPMENT. 
 
Minimum standards for plumbing systems and equipment shall be that every building and dwelling unit 
(and where applicable, rooming unit) shall contain not less than the following: 
 
(A)  A connection to a potable water supply and to the public sewer or other approved sewage 

disposal system. 
 
(B)  A kitchen sink, lavatory, tub or shower, and a water closet, all in good working condition and 

installed in accordance with the adopted plumbing code, and located within the dwelling unit and 
accessible to the occupants. The water closet and tub or shower shall be located in a room or 
rooms affording privacy to the user. 

 
(C)  Plumbing, all of which meets the standards of the adopted plumbing code and which is in a state 

of good repair and in good working order. 
 
(D)  Connections to the kitchen sink, lavatory, and tub or shower of an adequate supply of both cold 

water and hot water. All water shall be supplied through an approved pipe distribution system 
connected to a potable water supply. 

 
(E)  Installations of all hot water heating appliances according to the plumbing code adopted by the 

city and capable of supplying a continuous source of hot water, on demand, to all the required 
fixtures at a temperature of not less than 120° F. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.077 VENTILATION. 
 
Minimum standards for ventilation shall be that every building, dwelling unit, and rooming unit shall 
contain not less than the following: 
 
(A)  Windows, and the like. Every habitable room shall have a least one (1) window or skylight facing 

directly to the outdoors. The minimum size shall be eight percent (8%) of the floor area of such 
room. Whenever walls or other portions of structures face a window of any such room and such 
light-obstruction structures are located less than five (5) feet from the window and extend to a 
level above that of the ceiling of the room, such a window shall not be deemed to face directly to 
the outdoors and shall not be included as contributing to the required minimum total window area. 
Whenever the only window in a room is a skylight-type window in the top of such room, the total 

42

Item 10.



window area of such skylight shall equal at least fifteen percent (15%) of the total floor area of 
such room. 

 
(B)  Habitable rooms. Every habitable room shall have at least one (1) window or skylight which can 

easily be opened, or such other device as will adequately ventilate the room. The total openable 
window area in every habitable room shall be equal to at least forty-five percent (45%) of the 
minimum window area sign or minimum skylight- type window size, as required, or shall have 
other approved, equivalent ventilation. 

 
(C)  Bathroom and water closet rooms. Every bathroom and water closet compartment shall comply 

with the light and ventilation requirements for habitable rooms except that no window or skylight 
shall be required in adequately ventilated bathrooms and water closet rooms equipped with an 
approved ventilation system. 

 
(D)  Air conditioning. Year-round mechanically ventilating conditioned air systems may be substituted 

for windows, as required herein, in rooms other than rooms used for sleeping purposes. Window-
type air conditioning units are not included in this exception. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.078 ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS. 
 
Minimum standards for electrical systems shall be that every building, dwelling unit, and rooming unit 
shall contain not less than the following: 
 
(A)  Every building, dwelling unit, and rooming unit shall be wired for electric lights and convenience 

receptacles. Every habitable room shall contain at least two floor- or wall-type electric 
convenience receptacles, connected in such manner as determined by the electrical code 
adopted by the city. In every kitchen, at least one convenience receptacle must be installed for 
use of kitchen appliances, this receptacle must be protected by a ground fault circuit interrupter 
(GFCI) receptacle. All receptacles within twenty-four (24) inches of a water source or a 
countertop (either fixed or mobile) must be protected by a (GFCI) receptacle. There shall be 
installed in every bathroom a convenience wall type, (GFCI) receptacle. There shall be installed 
in every bathroom, water closet room, laundry room and furnace room at least one (1) supplied 
ceiling or wall-type electric light fixture. In the event wall or ceiling light fixtures are not provided in 
any habitable room, then each such habitable room shall contain at least three floor- or wall-type 
electric convenience receptacles. 

 
(B)  Hallways. Every public hall and stairway in every multiple dwelling shall be adequately lighted by 

electric lights at all times when natural daylight is not sufficient. 
 
(C)  Smoke detectors. A minimum of one (1) approved listed smoke detector shall be installed in 

accordance with manufacturer’s recommendation and listing and maintained in working condition. 
 
(D)  All fixtures, receptacles, equipment and wiring should be maintained in a state of good repair, 

safe, capable of being used, and installed in accordance with the electrical code adopted by the 
city. 

 
€  The minimum capacity of the service supply and the main disconnect switch shall be sufficient to 

carry adequately the total load as required by the electrical code adopted by the city, and in no 
case shall the service be less than one hundred (100) amps per dwelling unit. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 10-20-03; Am. Ord. passed 4-9-12)  
Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.079 HEATING. 

43

Item 10.



 
Minimum standards for heating shall be that every dwelling shall have facilities for providing heat in 
accordance with either division (A)  
or (B) of this section, as well as complying with division (C) of this section: 
 
(A)  Central and electrical systems. Every central or electric heating system shall be of sufficient 

capacity so as to heat all habitable rooms, bathrooms and water closet compartments, to a 
minimum temperature of 68° F. measured at a point three (3) feet above the floor with an outside 
temperature of 20° F. 

 
(B)  Other heating facilities. Where a central or electrical heating system is not provided, each 

dwelling shall have adequate chimneys, flues, or gas vents with heating appliances connected, 
installed and maintained in good and safe working condition and capable of safely and 
adequately heating all habitable rooms, bathrooms and water closet compartments so as to 
furnish a minimum temperature of 68° F. measured at a point three feet above the floor with an 
outside temperature of 20° F. Under no circumstances will portable heating devices be permitted 
as a primary source for heating. In addition, each dwelling unit shall be provided with sufficient 
chimney, flues, gas vents, and/or fireplaces in accordance with the provisions of the State 
Building Code. 

 
(C)  Installation and maintenance. Heating appliances and facilities shall be installed in accordance 

with the building code adopted by the city and shall be maintained in safe and good working 
condition. 

 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.080 SPACE; USE AND LOCATION. 
 
Minimum standards for space, use and location shall be that every building, dwelling unit, and rooming 
unit shall contain not less than the following: 
 
(A)  Dwelling unit. Every dwelling unit shall contain at least one hundred fifty (150) square feet of 

habitable floor area for the first occupant, at least one hundred (100) square feet of additional 
habitable floor area for each of the next three (3) occupants, and at least seventy-five (75) square 
feet of additional habitable floor area for each additional occupant. 

 
(B)  Room sizes. 

 
(1)  Every dwelling unit and rooming unit shall contain at least the minimum room size in each 

habitable room as required by the building code adopted by the city. 
 
(2)  In every dwelling unit and in every rooming unit, every room occupied for sleeping 

purposes by one occupant shall contain at least seventy (70) square feet of floor area, 
and every room occupied for sleeping purposes by more than one (1) occupant shall 
contain at least fifty (50) square feet of floor area for each occupant 12 years-of-age and 
over, and at least thirty-five (35) square feet of floor area for each occupant under 12 
years-of-age. 

 
(3)  Floor area calculation. Floor area shall be calculated on the basis of habitable room area. 

However, closet area and hall area within the dwelling unit, where provided, may count 
for not more than ten percent (10%) of the required habitable floor area. The floor area of 
any part of any room where the ceiling height is less than four and one-half (4 ½) feet 
shall not be considered as part of the floor area in computing the total floor area of the 
room to determine maximum permissible occupancy. 

 

44

Item 10.



(C)  Occupant. For the purpose of this division, a person under one year-of-age shall not be counted 
as an occupant. 

 
(D)  Ceiling height. At least one-half of the floor area of every habitable room shall have a ceiling 

height of at least seven feet. 
 
(E)  Cellar. No cellar shall be used for living purposes.  
 
(F)  Basement. No basement shall be used for living purposes unless the floor and walls are 

substantially watertight, the total window area, total openable window area and ceiling height are 
equal to those required for habitable rooms, and the required minimum window area of every 
habitable room is entirely above the grade adjoining such window area, except where the window 
or windows face a stair- well, window well or accessway. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.081 SAFE AND SANITARY MAINTENANCE. 
 
Minimum standards for safe and sanitary maintenance shall be that every building, dwelling unit, and 
rooming unit shall comply at least with the following: 
 
(A)  Exterior foundation walls and roofs. Every foundation wall, exterior wall, and exterior roof shall be 

substantially weathertight, watertight, and rodent proof, shall be capable of affording privacy, and 
shall be safe to use, and capable of supporting the load which normal use may cause to be 
placed thereon. Exterior surfaces not inherently resistant to deterioration shall be treated with a 
protective coating or covering and maintained in good repair to prevent deterioration. 

 
(B)  Insulation. Every dwelling unit shall have a minimum of R-19 insulation in the attic area. The 

approved types include blown insulation, batt insulation, or other insulation equivalent to a total of 
R-19 insulation value. A minimum clear opening into each attic space of fourteen inches by 
twenty-four inches (14” X 24”) shall be provided to allow for access, inspection and repair. The 
Housing Inspector or designee can grant a waiver of this requirement in the event that this 
requirement would necessitate major alteration of the structure, or would produce harmful 
accumulations of heat or moisture that cannot be removed by ventilation. 

 
(C)  Interior floors, walls and ceilings. Every floor, interior wall, and ceiling shall be substantially rodent 

proof, shall be kept in sound condition and good repair, and shall be safe to use and capable of 
supporting the load which normal use may cause to be placed thereon. Every tub or shower shall 
have a wall surface constructed and maintained so as to be substantially impervious to water and 
shall be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition. 

 
(D)  Windows and doors. Every window, exterior door, and basement or cellar door and hatch-way 

shall be substantially weathertight, watertight, and rodent proof, and shall be kept in sound 
working condition and good repair. Doors shall be provided at all doorways leading to bedrooms, 
toilet rooms, bathrooms, and all rooms adjoining a public space. All doors leading to the exterior 
must have an apparatus for opening and closing the door on both sides, a locking mechanism, 
and shall be kept in sound working condition and good repair. 

 
(E)  Stairs, porches and appurtenances. Every inside and outside stair, porch, and any appurtenance 

thereto shall be safe to use and capable of supporting the load that normal use may cause to be 
placed thereon and shall be kept in sound condition and good repair. 

 
(F)  Bathroom floors. Every bathroom floor surface and water closet compartment floor surface shall 

be constructed and maintained to be substantially impervious to water and to permit such floor to 
be easily kept in a clean and sanitary condition. 

 

45

Item 10.



(G)  Supplied facilities. Every supplied facility, piece of equipment or utility which is required under this 
code shall be so constructed and installed that it will function safely and effectively and shall be 
maintained in sound working condition. 

 
(H)  Drainage. Every yard shall be properly graded to obtain thorough drainage and to prevent the 

accumulation of stagnant water. 
 
(I)  Egress. Every dwelling unit shall be provided with means of egress as required by the building 

code adopted by the city. 
 
(J)  Noxious weeds. Every yard and all exterior property areas shall be kept free of noxious weeds or 

plant growth which are in excess of 12 inches, and which cause or threaten to cause a hazard 
detrimental to the public health and safety. 

 
(K)  Accessory structures and fences. Every fence and accessory structure shall be: 
 

(1)  All accessory structures shall be structurally sound and maintained in good repair and all 
fences and walls shall be structurally sound and maintained in good repair so that there 
are no broken, loose, damaged, removed, or missing parts (i.e., pickets, slats, posts, 
wood rails, bricks, panels). Repair of fences and walls shall be made with materials that 
are comparable in composition, color, size, shape, design and quality to those originally 
used to construct the fence or wall being repaired. Nothing herein shall be construed to 
prohibit or restrict the replacement of a fence or wall; 

 
(2)  Free from physical hazards and other matter detrimental to public health or safety; 
 
(3)  Exterior surfaces, not inherently resistant to deterioration, shall be treated with a 

protective coating, such as paint or other suitable preservative, and with sufficient 
frequency to prevent deterioration; and 

 
(4)  Any electrical, plumbing, heating or other utilities furnished to an accessory structure 

shall be installed in accordance with applicable provisions and maintained in a safe 
condition. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 10-20-03; Am. Ord. passed 4-9-12)  
Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.082 INSECTS, RODENTS, AND INFESTATIONS. 
 
Minimum standards for control of insects, rodents, and infestations shall be that every building, dwelling 
unit, and rooming unit shall at least comply with the following: 
 
(A)  Screens. For protection against mosquitoes, flies, and other insects, every door opening directly 

from a dwelling unit to outdoor space shall have supplied and installed screens and a self-closing 
device; and every window or other device with openings to outdoor space, used or intended to be 
used for ventilation shall likewise be supplied with screens installed so as to not be permanently 
affixed to the window frame, sash or structural members of the dwelling unit; and maintained in 
good condition without rips or tears. 

 
(B)  Rodent control. Every basement or cellar window used or intended to be used for ventilation, and 

every other opening to a basement which might provide an entry for rodents, shall be supplied 
with screens installed or such other approved device as will effectively prevent their entrance. 

 
(C)  Infestation. Every occupant of a dwelling containing a single dwelling unit shall be responsible for 

the extermination of any insects, rodents, or other pests therein or on the premises, and every 
occupant of a dwelling unit in a dwelling containing more than one dwelling unit shall be 

46

Item 10.



responsible for such extermination whenever his dwelling unit is the only one infested. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this division, whenever infestation is caused by failure 
of the actual owner to maintain a dwelling in a rodent-proof or reasonably insect-proof condition, 
extermination shall be the responsibility of the actual owner, as opposed to the tenant/occupant. 
Whenever infestation exists in two (2) or more of the dwelling units in any dwelling, or in the 
shared or public parts of any dwelling containing two or more dwelling units, extermination thereof 
shall be the responsibility of the owner, and not the tenant. 

 
(D)  Rubbish. Every dwelling unit shall be supplied with adequate rubbish storage facilities. 
 
(E)  Garbage. Every dwelling unit shall have adequate garbage disposal facilities or garbage storage 

containers in accordance with Chapter 52 of this code. 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 10-20-03) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.083 STRUCTURAL CONDITION. 
 
Minimum standards for structural condition shall be that every building, dwelling unit, and rooming unit 
shall at least comply with the following: 
 
(A)  Walls or partitions or supporting members, sills, joists, rafters, or other structural members shall 

not list, lean or buckle, and shall not be rotted, deteriorated, or damaged, and shall not have 
holes or cracks which might admit rodents. 

 
(B)  Floors or roofs shall have adequate supporting members and strength to be reasonably safe for 

the purpose used. Roof coverings shall be maintained in good condition; no more than two roof 
coverings on any roof (if more than two roof coverings exist, the roof coverings will not have to be 
removed until the current roof covering has deteriorated). 

 
(C)  Foundations, foundation walls, piers or other foundation supports shall be maintained in such 

condition that they will not fail or collapse. 
 
(D)  Steps, stairs, landings, porches, or other parts or appurtenances shall be maintained in such 

condition that they will not fail or collapse. 
 
(E)  Adequate facilities for egress in case of fire or panic shall be provided. 
 
(F)  Interior walls and ceilings of all rooms, closets, and hallways shall be finished of suitable 

materials, which will, by use of reasonable household methods promote sanitation and 
cleanliness and shall be maintained in such a manner so as to enable the occupants to maintain 
reasonable privacy between various spaces. 

 
(G)  The roof, flashings, exterior walls, basement walls, floors, and all doors and windows exposed to 

the weather shall be constructed and maintained to be weathertight and watertight. 
 
(H)  There shall be no chimneys or parts thereof which are defective, deteriorated, or in danger of 

falling, or in such conditions or location as to constitute a fire hazard. 
 
(I)  There shall be no use of the ground for floors, or wood floors on the ground. 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 10-20-03) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.084 ROOMING HOUSE AND DWELLING UNIT MINIMUM STANDARDS. 
 
All of the provisions of this subchapter, and all of the minimum standard requirements of this subchapter, 
shall be applicable to rooming houses and dwelling units, and to every person who operates a rooming 

47

Item 10.



house, or who occupies or lets to another for occupancy any rooming unit or any rooming house, except 
as provided in the following divisions:  
 
(A)  Rooming house. All rooming houses must comply with the following requirements: 
 

(1)  Water closets, hand lavatory and bath facilities. At least one (1) water closet, lavatory 
basin, and bathtub or shower, properly connected to an approved water and sewer 
system and in good working condition, shall be supplied for each four (4) rooms within a 
rooming house wherever said facilities are shared. All such facilities shall be located 
within the residence building served and shall be directly accessible from a common hall 
or passage and shall be not more than one (1) story removed from any of the persons 
sharing such facilities. Every lavatory basin and bathtub or shower shall be supplied with 
hot and cold water at all times. Such required facilities shall not be located in the cellar. 

 
(2)  Sanitary conditions. The owner or operator of every rooming house shall be responsible 

for the sanitary maintenance of all walls, floors, and ceilings, and for the sanitary 
maintenance of every other part of the building, and he or she shall be further responsible 
for the sanitary maintenance of the entire premises where the entire structure or building 
(within which the rooming house is contained) is leased or occupied by the operator. 

 
(3)  Sanitary facilities. Every water closet, flush urinal, lavatory basin, and bathtub or shower 

required by division (A)(1) of this section shall be located within the rooming house and 
within a room or rooms which afford privacy and are separate from the habitable rooms, 
and which are accessible from a common hall and without going outside the rooming 
house or through any other room therein. 

 
(4)  Safety. To assure the safety of all occupants of a rooming house the following standards 

must be met: 
 
(a)  Bathroom and kitchen must have at least one (1) receptacle accessible to the 

countertop and lavatory without the use of a drop cord or other device and must 
be installed to meet the criteria of a ground fault circuit interrupter (GFCI) type 
receptacle. 

 
(b)  Smoke detectors must be provided in every rooming unit, bedroom, hallway and 

on every level. 
 
(c)  All doors leading to individual rooming units must be provided with a secure 

locking mechanism and door handle. No padlocks or hasps allowed. 
 
(d)  No cooking appliances except microwaves can be located within the rooming 

units. 
 

(e)  No portable heating appliances (fuel or electric) shall be allowed in any area of 
the rooming house. 

 
(f)  All cord and plug appliances, whether provided by the owner or occupant, must 

be installed in a safe and secure manner and in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s recommendations. 

 
(g)  All points of ingress/egress and hallways must be lighted automatically upon 

diminished natural light. 
 
(h)  All rooming houses must be in compliance with all applicable city ordinances to 

receive a certificate of occupancy. 
 

48

Item 10.



(5)  Cooking and eating facilities. All rooming houses must be supplied with the following 
facilities for cooking and eating. 

 
(a)  At least one (1) room not less than one hundred twenty (120) square feet shall be 

located in every rooming house to be used for cooking and eating. 
 
(b)  All facilities for cooking and eating shall be located within the residence building 

served and shall be directly accessible from an interior common hall or 
passageway and shall not be more than one (1) story removed from any of the 
persons sharing such facilities. 

 
(c)  At least one (1) kitchen sink shall be supplied with hot and cold water at all times. 

A cook stove and oven of the built-in type shall be provided and maintained in 
good working condition at all times and the unit must be hardwired into the 
electrical/gas system, 

 
(d)  All connections to kitchen sink, oven and cook top must be in conformance with 

the State Building Code and standards of this chapter. 
 
(e)  Counter tops must be provided, not less than twenty-four by forty-eight inches 

(24” X 48”), in kitchen area. 
 
(f)  The floor covering in all rooms provided for cooking and eating shall be 

constructed and maintained to be substantially impervious to water and permit 
such to be easily kept clean and sanitary. 

 
(B)  Dwelling unit. All dwelling units and rooming units must comply with the following requirements: 

 
(1)  All dwelling units must comply with the minimum standards set forth in this chapter. 
 
(2)  All dwelling units must complete site plan approval through the Housing inspector and if 

applicable the Zoning Department and receive proper permits from the Building 
Inspections Department. 

 
(3)  Site plan must contain room sizes and layout, location of bathroom, eating and cooking 

areas, sleeping areas, ingress/egress locations, and all interior measurements. 
 
(4)  Rooms must conform to the minimum room sizes and the total size of the unit must not 

be less than two hundred forty (240) square feet of interior space. 
 
(5)  Kitchen sink must be a double compartment sink and cannot be a lavatory. 
 
(6)  Countertops must be provided in the kitchen area and cannot be less than twenty-four by 

forty-eight inches (24” X 48”). 
 
(7)  Ground fault receptacles are required at the kitchen countertop and at the bathroom 

lavatory space. A receptacle is required in the kitchen area for the use of a refrigerator 
without the use of a drop cord. 

 
(8)  The floor covering in all rooms provided for cooking and eating shall be constructed and 

maintained to be substantially impervious to water and permit such to be easily kept 
clean and sanitary. 

 
(9)  A cook stove and oven of the built-in type shall be provided and  
 maintained in good working condition at all times and must be hard-wired into the  
 electrical system for the structure. 

49

Item 10.



 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 4-9-12) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.085 ABANDONED STRUCTURES. 
 
(A)  Any abandoned structure that is a health or safety hazard as a result of the attraction of insects, 

rodents, conditions creating a fire hazard, dangerous conditions constituting a threat to children, 
or frequent use by vagrants as living quarters, or the absence of sanitary facilities, shall be 
repaired, closed, or demolished. It shall be unlawful for the owner of an abandoned structure to 
allow the same to become or to remain a health or safety hazard as defined in this section. 

 
(B)  The Code Enforcement Official shall have the authority to attempt to accomplish the repair, 

closing, or demolition of unsafe abandoned structures through the procedure set out in §150.088, 
except that if the estimated cost to repair the structure is fifty percent (50%) or more of its value , 
the structure shall be considered dilapidated, and the Code Enforcement Official shall order that it 
be demolished and removed. Upon the failure of the owner of an unsafe abandoned structure to 
comply with an order of the Code Enforcement Official to repair, close, or demolish such 
structure, the Code Enforcement Official shall present the matter to City Council. If the City 
Council finds that the abandoned structure is unsafe pursuant to division (A) of this section, it may 
adopt an ordinance ordering the Code Enforcement Official to cause such abandoned structure to 
be repaired, closed, or demolished. Each such ordinance shall be recorded as provided in 
§150.089, and the cost of any repair, closing, or demolition caused to be made by the Code 
Enforcement Official shall be a lien on the premises as provided in §150.092. 

 
(C)  If the City Council has adopted an ordinance, or the Code Enforcement Official has issued an 

order, ordering an abandoned structure to be repaired or vacated and closed, and if the owner 
has vacated and closed such dwelling and kept such dwelling vacated and closed for a period of 
one (1) year pursuant to the ordinance or order, then if the governing body shall find that the 
owner has abandoned the intent and purpose to repair, alter, or improve the dwelling in order to 
render it fit for human habitation and that the continuation of the dwelling in its vacated and 
closed status would be inimical to the health, safety, morals and welfare of the municipality in that 
the dwelling would continue to deteriorate, would create a fire and safety hazard, would be a 
threat to children and vagrants, would attract persons intent on criminal activities, would cause or 
contribute to blight and the deterioration of property values in the area, and would render 
unavailable property and a dwelling which might otherwise have been made available to ease the 
persistent shortage of decent and affordable housing in this state, then in such circumstances, 
the City Council may, after the expiration of such one (1) year period, enact an ordinance and 
serve such ordinance on the owner, setting for the following: 
 
(1)  If it is determined that the repair of the dwelling to render it fit for human habitation can be 

made at a cost not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the then current value of the dwelling, 
the ordinance shall require that the owner either repair or demolish and remove the 
dwelling within ninety (90) days; or 
 

(2)  If it is determined that the repair of the dwelling to render it fit for human habitation cannot 
be made at a cost not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the then current value of the 
dwelling, the ordinance shall require the owner to demolish and remove the dwelling 
within ninety (90) days. Such ordinance shall be recorded as provided in § 150.090, and 
the cost of any repair, closing, or demolition caused to be made by the Code 
Enforcement Official shall be a lien on the premises as provided in § 150.092. 

 
(Ord. passed 10-20-03) 
 
§ 150.086 RESPONSIBILITIES OF OWNERS AND OCCUPANTS. 
 
(A)  Cleanliness. 

50

Item 10.



 
(1)  Every owner of a multiple dwelling shall be responsible for maintaining in a clean and 

sanitary condition the shared or public areas of the dwelling and the premises thereof. 
 
(2)  Every occupant of a building, dwelling unit, or rooming unit shall keep in a clean and 

sanitary condition that part of the dwelling and premises thereof which he occupies and 
controls. The occupant shall keep the occupied area and all facilities in a clean and 
sanitary condition. A clean and sanitary condition shall include but is not limited to the 
following: 

 
(a)  Floors, floor coverings and other walking surfaces shall be kept clean and free of 

dirt, filth, garbage, fecal matter, litter, refuse and other unsanitary matter. 
 
(b)  Walls, ceilings, windows, and doors shall be kept clean and free of dirt, greasy 

films, soot, and any other unsanitary matter. 
 
(c)  Plumbing fixtures shall be kept in a clean, sanitary, and operable condition. No 

materials shall be deposited in any such fixture which may result in the 
obstruction of such fixture, or any lines connected thereto. 

 
(d)  Cookstove, refrigerator, cabinets, and other furnishings shall be kept clean, free 

of dirt, film, soot, and any other unsanitary condition. 
 
(e)  No occupant shall obstruct in any manner any means of egress/ingress to or 

from any portion of the premises. 
 
(B)  Rubbish and garbage. 

 
(1)  Except as stated below in division (B)(2), every owner of a building, dwelling unit, and 

rooming unit shall be responsible for the availability of rubbish and garbage storage 
facilities. 

 
(2)  Every occupant of a building, dwelling unit, or rooming unit shall dispose of all of their 

rubbish and garbage in a clean and sanitary manner by placing it in the supplied storage 
facility. Occupants of buildings containing one (1) or two (2) dwelling units shall be 
responsible for the availability of rubbish and garbage storage facilities. 

 
(C)  Supplied plumbing fixtures. 

 
(1)  Every owner of a building, dwelling unit, or rooming unit shall supply such plumbing and 

plumbing fixtures as are required by this code. 
 
(2)  Every occupant of a building, dwelling unit, or rooming unit shall keep all supplied 

plumbing and plumbing fixtures therein in a clean and sanitary condition and shall be 
responsible for the exercise of reasonable care in their proper use and operation. 

 
(D)  Care of facilities, equipment, and structure. No occupant shall willfully destroy, deface, or impair 

any of the facilities or equipment of any part of the structure of a building, dwelling unit or rooming 
unit which he occupies. 

 
(E)  Extermination. For the responsibilities of occupants concerning extermination, see § 150.083(C) 

of this subchapter. 
 
(F)  Care of premises. It shall be unlawful for the owner or occupant of a building, dwelling unit, or 

rooming unit to utilize the premises of such property for the open storage of any abandoned 
motor vehicle, icebox, refrigerator, stove, glass, building materials, building rubbish, or any other 

51

Item 10.



similar items. It shall be the duty and responsibility of every such owner and occupant to keep the 
premises of such property clean and to remove from the premises all such abandoned items as 
listed above, including but not limited to, weeds, dead trees, trash, garbage, and the like. It is 
hereby noted that for the purposes of this division an abandoned motor vehicle is defined as a 
vehicle  that is in a state of disrepair and incapable of being moved under its own power. 

 
(G)  Inspections and examinations.  
 

(1)  Every owner of a building, dwelling unit, or rooming unit shall give the Housing Inspector 
free access to such property at all reasonable times for the purposes of any inspection, 
examination or survey being conducted by the Code Enforcement Official or their office. 

 
(2)  Every occupant of a building, dwelling unit, or rooming unit shall give the owner thereof 

access to any part of such building, dwelling unit or rooming unit at all reasonable times 
for the purpose of the owner making such repairs or alterations as are necessary to affect 
compliance with the provisions of this code, or with any lawful order issued pursuant to 
the provisions of this code. Additionally, every occupant of a building, dwelling unit, or 
rooming unit shall give the Housing Inspector free access to such building, dwelling unit, 
or rooming unit at all reasonable times for the purposes of any such inspection, 
examination, or survey conducted pursuant to this chapter. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 10-20-03) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
Administration and Enforcement 
 
§ 150.087 HOUSING INSPECTOR; DUTIES AND POWERS. 
 
Establishment; duties and powers. Pursuant to G.S. § 160D-1203 there is hereby created and established 
a position to be known as the Housing Inspector, who shall be appointed by the City Manager and 
designated as the public officer to exercise the duties and powers prescribed in this subchapter. 

 
(A)  It shall be the duty of the Housing Inspector: 

 
(1)  To investigate and to inspect all buildings, dwelling units and rooming units located in the 

city in order to determine which such buildings, dwelling units and rooming units are unfit 
for human habitation as well as to carry out the general spirit and purpose of this code. 

 
(2)  To enforce the provisions of this code and to take such action, alone or together with 

other appropriate departments and agencies, public or private, as may be necessary to 
carry out the general spirit and purpose of this code. 

 
(3)  To keep adequate records of all activity conducted pursuant to this code, including but 

not limited to an inventory of those buildings, dwelling units and rooming units that do not 
meet the minimum standards of fitness prescribed by this code. 

 
(4)  To report annually to the City Manager concerning the work of this division, and 

specifically the housing section, during the preceding year. 
 
(5)  To perform each and every duty necessary and incidental to the fulfillment of the general 

spirit and purpose of this subchapter. 
 

(B)  Pursuant to G.S. § 160D-1210, the Housing Inspector is hereby authorized to exercise any 
powers necessary or convenient to carry out and effectuate the general spirit, purpose, and 
provisions of this code, including specifically, but not limited to the following: 

 

52

Item 10.



(1)  To investigate the dwelling conditions in the city in order to determine which buildings are 
unfit for human habitation. 

 
(2)  To administer oaths, affirmations, examine witnesses and receive evidence. 
 
(3)  To enter upon premises for the purpose of making examinations and inspections in a 

manner that will do the least possible inconvenience to the persons in possession. 
 
(4)  To appoint and fix the duties of officers, agents and employees necessary to carry out the 

purposes of this subchapter. 
 
(5)  To delegate any of his functions and powers under this code to other officers and other 

agents. 
 
(C) Except as outlined in NCGS Chapter 160D-1207(b)., the Housing Inspector may make periodic 

inspections only when there is reasonable cause to believe that unsafe, unsanitary, or otherwise 
hazardous or unlawful conditions may exist in a residential building or structure. However, when 
the Housing Inspector determines that a safety hazard exists in one (1) of the dwelling units 
within a multifamily building, which in the opinion of the inspector poses an immediate threat to 
the occupant, the Housing Inspector may inspect, in the absence of a specific complaint and 
actual knowledge of the unsafe condition, additional dwelling units in the multifamily building to 
determine if that same safety hazard exists.  
 
For purposes of this section, the term "reasonable cause" means any of the following:  

 
(1) The landlord or owner has a history of more than two (2) verified violations of the housing 

ordinances or codes within a 12-month period,  
 

(2) There has been a complaint that substandard conditions exist within the building or there 
has been a request that the building be inspected,  
 

(3) The Housing Inspector has actual knowledge of an unsafe condition within the building, 
or, 

  
(4) Violations of the local ordinances or codes are visible from the outside of the property.  

 
In exercising this power, members of the department shall have a right to enter on any premises 
within the jurisdiction of the department at all reasonable hours for the purposes of inspection or 
other enforcement action, upon presentation of proper credentials. Nothing in this section shall be 
construed to prohibit periodic inspections in accordance with State fire prevention code or as 
otherwise required by State law. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
 
§ 150.088 PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATION; NOTICE; HEARING. 
 
(A)  Whenever a petition is filed with the Housing Inspector by a public authority or by at least five (5) 

residents of the city charging that any dwelling is unfit for human habitation, or whenever when it 
appears to the Housing Inspector, that any dwelling  is unfit for human habitation, the Housing 
Inspector shall, if a preliminary investigation discloses a basis for such charges, issue and cause 
to be served upon the owner of, and parties in interest is such dwelling, a complaint stating the 
charges and containing a notice that an administrative hearing will be held before the Housing 
Inspector, or authorized representative, at a place within the County in which the dwelling is 
located, not less than ten (10) nor more than thirty (30) days after the serving of the complaint.  

 

53

Item 10.



The owner and parties of interest shall be given the right to file an answer to the complaint and to 
appear in person, or otherwise, and give testimony at the place and time fixed in the complaint. 
The rules of evidence prevailing in courts of law or equity shall not be controlling in hearings 
before the Housing Inspector. 

 
(B)  At the hearing, the Housing Inspector may determine pursuant to G.S. § 160D-1205 that a 

dwelling is unfit for human habitation if it is found that conditions exist in the dwelling that render it 
dangerous or injurious to the health, safety, or welfare of the occupants of the dwelling, the 
occupants of the neighboring dwellings, or other residents of the city. Such conditions may 
include, but are not limited to the following:  
 
(1) Defects therein increasing the hazards of fire, accidents, or other calamities. 

 
(2) Lack of adequate ventilation, light, or sanitary facilities 

 
(3) Dilapidation 

 
(4) Disrepair 

 
(5) Structural defects 
 
(6)  Failure in any way to conform to the minimum standards set forth in this code. 
 
(7)  Dangerously dilapidated, damaged, or inadequate condition of walls, overloaded floors, 

defective construction, decay, unsafe wiring or heating system, or inadequate means of 
egress. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. TC00-5, passed 10-9-00) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.089 PROCEDURE AFTER HEARING; WRITTEN ORDER. 
 
After such required notice and administrative hearing, the Housing Inspector shall state in writing, the 
findings of fact in support of the determination , whether the dwelling is unfit for human habitation, and, if 
so, shall issue and serve the owner one of the following orders:  
 
(A)  If the Housing Inspector determines that the dwelling is deteriorated the owner shall  repair, alter, 

and improve the dwelling to comply with the minimum standards of fitness established by this 
code within a specified period of time, not to exceed ninety (90) days. Such order may also direct 
and require the owner to vacate and close the unsafe building until such repairs, alterations, and 
improvements have been made taking into account the nature of the necessary repairs, 
alterations, or improvements; the current state of the property; and any additional risks due to the 
presence and capacity of minors under the age of eighteen (18) or occupants with physical or 
mental disabilities. Upon application by the owner within the specified period of time, the Housing 
Inspector may grant extensions of up to one (1) year if the unsafe building is occupied by the 
owner, or up to one hundred eighty (180) days if the dwelling is not occupied by the owner, for 
good cause shown. 

 
(B)  If the Housing Inspector determines that the dwelling is dilapidated, the owner shall vacate, close 

and remove, or demolish the dwelling within a specified period of time not to exceed ninety (90) 
days. However, notwithstanding any other provision of law, if the dwelling is located in a historic 
district and the Historic District Commission determines, after an administrative hearing as 
provided by ordinance, that the dwelling is of particular significance or value toward maintaining 
the character of the district, and the dwelling has not been condemned as unsafe, the order may 
require that the dwelling be vacated and closed consistent with G.S. 160D-949. 

 
§ 150.090 FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH ORDER. 

54

Item 10.



 
(A) If the owner of any deteriorated dwelling shall fail to comply with an order of the Housing 

Inspector to repair, alter, improve or vacate and close the same within the time specified therein, 
the Housing Inspector may cause the dwelling to be repaired, altered, or improved or to be 
vacated and closed, and the public officer may post on the main entrance of any dwelling so 
closed a placard with the following words: "This building is unfit for human habitation; the use or 
occupation of this building for human habitation is prohibited and unlawful." 

 
(1) Occupation of a building so posted shall constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor, in 

accordance with NCGS 160D-1203.(4). 
 
(2) The Housing Inspector shall not act until the City Council has adopted an ordinance 

ordering the Housing Inspector to proceed with respect to the particular property or 
properties that the Housing Inspector has found to be unfit for human habitation and 
which property or properties shall be described in the ordinance. 

 
(a) This ordinance shall be recorded in the office of the register of deeds in the 

county where the property or properties are located and shall be indexed in the 
name of the property owner in the grantor index. 

 
(B)  If the owner of any dilapidated dwelling shall fail to comply with an order of the Housing Inspector 

to remove or demolish the same within the time specified therein, the Housing Inspector may 
cause the dwelling to be removed or demolished. 

 
(1) The Housing Inspector shall not act until the City Council has adopted an ordinance 

ordering the Housing Inspector to proceed with respect to the particular property or 
properties that the Housing Inspector has found to be unfit for human habitation and 
which property or properties shall be described in the ordinance. 
 
(a) No such ordinance shall be adopted to require demolition of a dwelling until the 

owner has first been given a reasonable opportunity to bring it into conformity 
with the housing code. 
 

(b) This ordinance shall be recorded in the office of the register of deeds in the 
county where the property or properties are located and shall be indexed in the 
name of the property owner in the grantor index. 
 

  
§ 150.091 ABANDONMENT OF INTENT TO REPAIR 
 
If the Housing Inspector shall have issued an order, ordering a dwelling to be repaired or vacated and 
closed, pursuant to §150.089, and if the owner has vacated and closed such dwelling and kept such 
dwelling vacated and closed for a period of one (1) year pursuant to the ordinance or order, then if the 
City Council shall find that the that the owner has abandoned the intent and purpose to repair, alter or 
improve the dwelling in order to render it fit for human habitation and that the continuation of the dwelling 
in its vacated and closed status would be inimical to the health, safety, morals and welfare of the 
municipality in that the dwelling would continue to deteriorate, would create a fire and safety hazard, 
would be a threat to children and vagrants, would attract persons intent on criminal activities, would cause 
or contribute to blight and the deterioration of property values in the area, and would render unavailable 
property and a dwelling which might otherwise have been made available to ease the persistent shortage 
of decent and affordable housing, then in such circumstances, the governing body may, after the 
expiration of such one (1) year period, enact an ordinance on the owner, setting forth the following: 
 
(A)  If it is determined that the dwelling is deteriorated and the repair of the dwelling to render it fit for 

human habitation can be made at a cost not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the then current 

55

Item 10.



value of the dwelling, the ordinance shall require that the owner either repair or demolish and 
remove the dwelling within ninety (90) days; or 

 
(B)  If it is determined that the dwelling is dilapidated and the repair of the dwelling to render it fit for 

human habitation cannot be made at a cost not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the then current 
value of the dwelling, the ordinance shall require the owner to demolish and remove the dwelling 
within ninety (90) days. 

 
The ordinance shall be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds and shall be indexed in the name 
of the property owner in the grantor index. If the owner fails to comply with the ordinance, the Housing 
Inspector shall effectuate the purpose of the ordinance. 
 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 10-20-03) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
Statutory reference: 
For statutory authorization of ordinances to repair, close, or demolish buildings, see G.S. § 160D-1203. 
 
§ 150.092 CIVIL PENALTIES; RECOVERY OF COSTS. 
 
(A)  Administrative fees and costs. The City Council may from time to time adopt a schedule of 

administrative fees to be charged and collected by the Housing Inspector in order for the city to 
recover its costs in administering and enforcing this chapter. 

 
(B)  Authority to assess civil penalties. When the Housing Inspector finds that the owner has violated 

or continues to violate any provision of this chapter, or any order, rule, or regulation issued 
hereunder, the Housing Inspector may assess a civil penalty to such owner, as provided herein 
and in §150.999. 

 
(C)  Costs and attorney’s fees. The Housing Inspector may recover attorney’s fees, court costs, and 

other expenses associated with the enforcement activities undertaken pursuant to this chapter, 
including the cost of determining ownership, expenses of notification, attorney’s fees, and the 
cost of any actual damages incurred by the city. 

 
(D)  Determination of the amount. In determining the amount of civil penalty to be assessed, the 

Housing Inspector may consider any other relevant circumstances, but shall consider the 
following: 

 
(1)  The degree or extent of dilapidation or deterioration, public harm, the gravity of the 

violations of the Minimum Housing Code and the danger to the public health resulting 
from the violations. 

 
(2)  The gravity and duration of the violations. 
 
(3)  The cost to the city caused by the violations. 
 
(4)  The amount of money saved by noncompliance and any other economic benefit gained 

through the owner's violations. 
 
(5)  Whether the violations have been committed willfully and intentionally. 
 
(6)  The prior record of the owner in complying or failing to comply with the minimum housing 

provisions of this chapter. 
 
(7)  The cost for enforcement by the city. 

 

56

Item 10.



(E)  Collection. Actions for the collection of civil penalties shall be referred to the City Attorney for 
collection. 

 
(F) Liens. 
 

(1) Pursuant to G.S. §160D-1203(7) the amount of the cost of repairs, alterations, and 
improvements, or vacating, closing and removal, or demolition shall be a lien against the 
real property upon which the cost was incurred. Such lien shall be filed, have the same 
priority and be collected as the lien for special assessment provided in N.C.G.S. Ch. 
160A, Article 10.  
 

(2) If the real property upon which the cost was incurred is located in the City limits, then the 
amount of the cost is also a lien on any other real property of the owner located within the 
city limits or within one (1) mile thereof, except for the owner's primary residence. The 
additional lien provided herein is inferior to all prior liens and shall be collected as a 
money judgment. 
 

(3) If the dwelling is removed or demolished by the Housing Inspector, the City shall, if 
possible, sell in the materials of the dwelling, and any personal property, fixtures, or 
appurtenances found in or attached to the dwelling and shall credit the proceeds of the 
sale, if any, against the cost of the removal or demolition. Any balance remaining shall be 
deposited by the Housing Inspector with the clerk of Superior Court for subsequent 
disbursement by the court to the persons found by the court to be entitled thereto. 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair or limit in any way the power of the 
city to define and declare nuisances and to cause their removal or abatement by 
summary proceedings or otherwise. 

 
(G) Civil Action. If any occupant fails to comply with an order to vacate a dwelling, the Housing 

Inspector may file a civil action in the name of the city to remove such occupant. Such action shall 
be filed and conducted in accordance with the provisions of G.S. § 160D-1203(8). 

 
(H)  Appeals. The person who has been assessed a civil penalty by the Housing Inspector and who 

desires to dispute such penalty, must file a written notice of appeal with the City Manager and 
follow the procedures set forth in this chapter for prosecuting appeals. During the pendency of 
such appeal the assessment of such penalties shall be stayed. 

 
(I)  Assessment not a bar. Assessment of a civil penalty shall not be a bar against or prerequisite for 

the taking of any other action against the owner. 
 
(J)  Other available remedies, injunctive relief. In addition to the remedies previously provided in this 

chapter, the Housing Inspector may use any one or combination thereof against a non-compliant 
owner or person entitled to possession. Additional remedies shall include but are not limited in 
injunctive relief sought through a petition filed with the General Court of Justice by the City 
Attorney for the issuance of such injunctive relief as may be appropriate seeking to restrain or 
compel the activities necessary to comply with the provisions of this chapter. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.093 SERVICE OF COMPLAINTS AND ORDERS. ADDITIONAL NOTICES. 
 
(A) Complaints and all orders issued by the Housing Inspector shall be served by the Housing 

Inspector upon persons either personally, or by certified mail. When service is made by certified 
mail, a copy of the complaint or order may also be sent by regular mail. Service shall be deemed 
sufficient if the certified mail is unclaimed or refused but the regular mail is not returned by the 
post office within ten (10) days after the mailing. If regular mail is used, a notice of the pending 
proceedings shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the premises affected. 

57

Item 10.



 
(B) If the identities of any owners or the whereabouts of persons are unknown and the same cannot 

be ascertained by the Housing Inspector in the exercise of reasonable diligence, or, if the owners 
are known but have refused to accept service by certified mail and the Housing Inspector makes 
an affidavit to that effect, then the serving of such complaint or order upon the owners or other 
persons may be made by publication in the local newspaper at least once no later than the time 
at which personal service would be required under the provisions of the Minimum Housing Code 
and G.S. Ch. 160D. When service is made by publication, a notice of the pending proceedings 
shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the premises thereby affected. 
 

(C) Whenever a determination is made pursuant to Section 150-089, that a dwelling must be vacated 
and closed, or removed or demolished, under the provisions of this section, notice of the order 
shall be given by first-class mail to any organization involved in providing or restoring dwellings 
for affordable housing that has filed a written request for such notices. A minimum period of forty-
five (45) days from the mailing of such notice shall be given before removal or demolition by 
action of the Housing Inspector, to allow the opportunity for any organization to negotiate with the 
owner to make repairs, lease, or purchase the property for the purpose of providing affordable 
housing. The Housing Inspector or the City Clerk shall certify the mailing of the notices, and the 
certification shall be conclusive in the absence of fraud. Only an organization that has filed a 
written request for such notices may raise the issue of failure to mail such notices, and the sole 
remedy shall be an order requiring the Housing Inspector to wait forty-five (45) days before 
causing removal or demolition. 
 

(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94; Am. Ord. passed 10-20-03; Am. Ord. passed 3-9-09) 
 
§ 150.094 PERIODIC INSPECTIONS. 
 
Inspections may be undertaken by the Housing Inspector as outlined in Section 150-087(C) and as 
provided in NCGS Chapter 160D-1207. 
 
§ 150.095 REMEDIES; APPEALS FROM ORDERS OF HOUSING INSPECTOR. 
 
(A) An appeal from any decision or order of the Housing Inspector may be taken by any person 

aggrieved thereby or by any officer, board, or commission of the local government. Any appeal 
from the Housing Inspector shall be taken within ten (10) days from the rendering of the decision, 
or within (10) ten days of service of such order. Such appeal shall be taken by filing with the 
Housing Inspector and with the Board of Adjustment created in Chapter 155, Land Development 
Code, (hereinafter called “the Board”) a notice of appeal which shall specify the grounds upon 
which the appeal is based.  

 
(1) Upon the filing of any notice of appeal, the Housing Inspector shall forthwith transmit to 

the Board all the papers constituting the record upon which the decision appealed from 
was made. 
 

(2) When any appeal is from a decision of the Housing Inspector refusing to allow the person 
aggrieved thereby to do any act, the decision shall remain in force until modified or 
reversed.  

 
(3) When any appeal is from a decision of the Housing Inspector requiring the person 

aggrieved to do any act, the appeal shall have the effect of suspending the requirement 
until the hearing by the Board, unless the Housing Inspector certifies to the Board after 
the notice of appeal is filed, that by reason of the facts stated in the certificate (a copy of 
which shall be furnished to the appellant), a suspension of the requirement would cause 
imminent peril to life or property. In that case, the requirement shall be suspended except 
by a restraining order, which may be granted for due cause upon not less than one (1) 
days written notice to the Housing Inspector by the Board. 

58

Item 10.



 
(B)  The Board shall fix a reasonable time for hearing appeals, shall give due notice to the parties, 

and shall render its decision within a reasonable time. Any party may appear in person or by 
agent or attorney. The Board may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the decision 
or order appealed from, and may make any decision and order that in its opinion ought to be 
made in the matter, and, to that end, it has all the powers of the Housing Inspector, but the 
concurring vote of four members of the board is necessary to reverse or modify any decision or 
order of the Housing Inspector. The Board also has power in passing upon appeals, when 
unnecessary hardships would result from carrying out the strict letter of the ordinance, to adapt 
the application of the ordinance to the necessities of the case to the end that the spirit of the 
ordinance is observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial justice done. 

 
(C)  Every decision of the Board shall be subject to review by the County Superior Court by 

proceedings in the nature of certiorari instituted within fifteen (15) days of the decision of the 
Board, but not otherwise. 

 
(D) Any person aggrieved by an order issued by the Housing Inspector or a decision rendered by the 

Board may petition the Superior Court for an injunction restraining the Housing Inspector from 
carrying out the order or decision and the court may, upon such petition, issue a temporary 
injunction restraining the Housing Inspector pending a final disposition of the cause.  

 
(1) The petition shall be filed within thirty (30) days after issuance of the order or rendering of 

the decision. 
 

(2) Hearings shall be heard by the County Superior Court on a petition within twenty (20) 
days and shall be given preference over other matters on the court’s calendar.  

 
(3) The court shall hear and determine the issues raised and shall enter such final order or 

decree as law and justice may require.  
 
(4) It is not necessary to file bond in any amount before obtaining a temporary injunction 

under this subsection. 
 
(E) If any dwelling is erected, constructed, altered, repaired, converted, maintained, or used in 

violation of this Code or any valid order or decision of the Housing Inspector or board made 
pursuant to this Code adopted, the Housing Inspector or Board may institute any appropriate 
action or proceedings to prevent the unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, or 
use; to restrain, correct, or abate the violation; to prevent the occupancy of the dwelling; or to 
prevent any illegal act, conduct, or use in or about the premises of the dwelling. 

 
(Ord. 94-8-4, passed 8-8-94) 
 
§ 150.096 COSTS AND FEE SCHEDULE. 
 
(A) Subsequent to adopting this Code, the City shall prepare an estimate of the annual expenses or 

costs to provide the equipment, personnel, and supplies necessary for periodic examinations and 
investigations of the dwellings for the purpose of determining the fitness of dwellings for human 
habitation and for the enforcement and administration of its ordinances adopted under this Article. 
The City is authorized to make appropriations from its revenues necessary for this purpose and 
may accept and apply grants or donations to assist it. 

 
(B) Because of budgetary considerations and because the city deems it appropriate to place the 

monetary burden of enforcing the minimum housing code on the owners of property who fail or 
refuse to maintain their property so as to meet the minimum standards of fitness for human 
habitation, the City Council hereby adopts administrative fees which can be found in the adopted 
City of Bessemer City Fee Schedule. 

59

Item 10.



 
(C)  If court action is necessary, the city shall seek recovery of its reasonable attorney fees and court 

costs for the prosecution or defense of the actions of the city. 
 
(Res. passed 8-8-94) Penalty, see § 150.999 
 
§ 150.097 COMPENSATION TO OWNERS OF CONDEMNED PROPERTY. 
 
Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed as preventing the owner or owners of any property from 
receiving just compensation for the taking of property by the power of eminent domain under the laws of 
this State nor as permitting any property to be condemned or destroyed except in accordance with the 
police power of the State. 

60

Item 10.



 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 150 OF THE CITY OF 

BESSEMER CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

WHEREAS, after proper notification a Public Hearing was held before the Bessemer City Council on July 11, 

2022 to consider a proposed amendment to the City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances and Land Development 

Code.  

WHEREAS, after a vote, the City Council of Bessemer City approved a text change to the    

City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances reflected in Chapter 150 of the City of Bessemer City Code of 

Ordinances. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, that the City of 

Bessemer City Code of Ordinances is amended to reflect the adopted changes as written below. 

1. CHAPTER 150 MINIMUM HOUSING REGULATIONS. 

 

Effective Date 

This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, 

North Carolina. 

 

Adopted by City Council this 11th Day of July, 2022. 

 

 

 

Becky S. Smith, Mayor 

 

Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 

COBC-GOVBOD-2022-2023 O 2 

61

Item 11.



PLAN CONSISTENCY & STATEMENT OF REASONABLENESS 

TEXT AMENDMENT 03-2022 

July 11, 2022 

 
Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §160D-605 the City of Bessemer City Council hereby approves 
and adopts the following Plan Consistency and Statement of Reasonableness for the text 
amendment of the Land Development Code of the City of Bessemer City, North Carolina. 
 
1) Said text changes are consistent with the goals and values established by the City 

Council adopted in 2019.  

a. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following seven 
values: 1. Open, Honest and Accessible Government, 2. Fiscal Accountability and 
Sustainability, 3. Public Safety and Safe and Accessible Neighborhoods, 4. Keeping True to 
Our Small-Town Character and Traditions, 5. Focused on Quality and Customer Service, 6. 
Family Oriented, 7. Promote a Healthy Quality of Life. These text amendments are 
consistent with these values.  

b. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following 
eight goals: 1. A desirable place to live and work that is open to growth, 2. A safe and 
secure community for residents and visitors, 3. A sustainable community with high 
quality and dependable infrastructure and utilities, 4. A thriving, viable and diverse 
economy, 5. Provide opportunities for our citizens, 6. Sustainable organizational 
capacity, 7. Embrace innovation and promote creativity, 8. Promote a healthy quality 
of life. These text amendments are consistent with these goals.   

 

2) The text amendments would not be detrimental to the city and ETJ. 

a. The physical condition that make the text amendments reasonable are: 

• Provides for systematic zoning and land usage regulation changes that 
preserves and protects our existing neighborhoods and promotes diverse ways 
of life that do not take away from our small town character.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Therefore, the requested text amendments are reasonable and in the public interest. 

Upon a motion that the application is consistent with the Bessemer City Planning and 
Economic Development Comprehensive Land Use Vision. 62

Item 11.



Read, approved and adopted this the 11th day of July, 2022. 

 
ATTEST CITY COUNCIL FOR THE  
 CITY OF BESSEMER CITY 

 
BY   

Hydeia Hayes, City Clerk Becky S. Smith, Mayor 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 

 
Dan O’Shea, City Attorney 

63

Item 11.



Chapter 130.10: Camping and Other Activity Prohibited on Public Property. 

 

a. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the 

meanings ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a 

different meaning: 

a. “Camp” or “camping” means the use of city property for living accommodation 

purposes such as sleeping, making preparations to sleep (including the laying 

down of bedding for the purpose of sleeping), or storing personal belongings, or 

placing any tent or other temporary shelter on city property for living 

accommodation purposes. 

b. “Temporary shelter” means tents, tarps, or any type of structure or cover, which, 

whether or not readily moveable, is placed or erected in a fixed location, and 

which provides shelter from the elements. 

b. It shall be unlawful for anyone to camp on any public property owned by the city 

including but not limited to public rights-of-way and sidewalks. 

c. Camping as defined in this section is deemed a public nuisance and the city may 

summarily remove a temporary shelter, bedding, or personal belongings. 

d. It shall be unlawful to light or use a campfire, camp stove, grill, other cooking device, or 

bonfire on public property, except as may be specifically authorized by a permit or by 

posted signage. 

e. Civil Penalties: 

a. Violations of any of the provisions of this section will result in the following civil 

penalties: 

i. First offense in any twelve-month period - $100.00 

ii. Second offense in any twelve month period - $500.00 

iii. Third and each further offense in any twelve month period –$1000.00   

b. The City Manager or the Manager’s designee may issue a notice of violation 

assessing civil penalties. The notice shall be issued in writing and shall set forth 

with reasonable specificity the basis for the civil penalty. The notice of violation 

shall be served by registered or certified mail, or by personal service. When 

service is made by registered or certified mail, a copy of the notice may also be 

sent by first class mail. Service shall be deemed sufficient if the first class mail is 

not returned by the Post Office within ten (10) business days after the mailing. 

Refusal to accept the notice shall not relieve the violator of the obligation to pay 

the penalty.  

c. The notice of violation shall contain a time period which the violation must be 

corrected. From and after the date specified in the notice, each subsequent day 

that the violation continues shall constitute a separate and distinct offense subject 

to additional civil penalties. 

d. If any person fails to pay any civil penalty within thirty (30) days after the 

decision becomes final, the City may recover the penalty, together with all costs 

allowed by law, by filing a civil action in the General Court of Justice in the 

nature of a suit to collect a debt.  

f. Administrative fee: 

64

Item 12.



a. Any person who violates this article shall pay an administrative fee of one 

hundred dollars ($100.00) per violation in addition to civil penalty.  

g. Other Remedies: 

a. In addition to civil penalties, a violation of this division is a misdemeanor and 

may be prosecuted as such. A violation of this division may also be enforced 

through injunctive or other equitable relief, or by a combination of remedies.  

 

 

65

Item 12.



 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 130.10 OF THE CITY OF 

BESSEMER CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

WHEREAS, after proper notification a Public Hearing was held before the Bessemer City Council on July 11, 

2022 to consider a proposed amendment to the City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances and Land Development 

Code.  

WHEREAS, after a vote, the City Council of Bessemer City approved a text change to the    

City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances reflected in Chapter 130.10 of the City of Bessemer City Code of 

Ordinances. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, that the City of 

Bessemer City Code of Ordinances is amended to reflect the adopted changes as written below. 

1. CHAPTER 130.10 CAMPING. 

 

Effective Date 

This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, 

North Carolina. 

 

Adopted by City Council this 11th Day of July, 2022. 

 

 

 

Becky S. Smith, Mayor 

 

Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 

COBC-GOVBOD-2022-2023 O 3 

66

Item 13.



PLAN CONSISTENCY & STATEMENT OF REASONABLENESS 

TEXT AMENDMENT 03-2022 

July 11, 2022 

 
Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §160D-605 the City of Bessemer City Council hereby approves 
and adopts the following Plan Consistency and Statement of Reasonableness for the text 
amendment of the Land Development Code of the City of Bessemer City, North Carolina. 
 
1) Said text changes are consistent with the goals and values established by the City 

Council adopted in 2019.  

a. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following seven 
values: 1. Open, Honest and Accessible Government, 2. Fiscal Accountability and 
Sustainability, 3. Public Safety and Safe and Accessible Neighborhoods, 4. Keeping True to 
Our Small-Town Character and Traditions, 5. Focused on Quality and Customer Service, 6. 
Family Oriented, 7. Promote a Healthy Quality of Life. These text amendments are 
consistent with these values.  

b. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following 
eight goals: 1. A desirable place to live and work that is open to growth, 2. A safe and 
secure community for residents and visitors, 3. A sustainable community with high 
quality and dependable infrastructure and utilities, 4. A thriving, viable and diverse 
economy, 5. Provide opportunities for our citizens, 6. Sustainable organizational 
capacity, 7. Embrace innovation and promote creativity, 8. Promote a healthy quality 
of life. These text amendments are consistent with these goals.   

 

2) The text amendments would not be detrimental to the city and ETJ. 

a. The physical condition that make the text amendments reasonable are: 

• Provides for systematic zoning and land usage regulation changes that 
preserves and protects our existing neighborhoods and promotes diverse ways 
of life that do not take away from our small town character.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Therefore, the requested text amendments are reasonable and in the public interest. 

Upon a motion that the application is consistent with the Bessemer City Planning and 
Economic Development Comprehensive Land Use Vision. 67

Item 13.



Read, approved and adopted this the 11th day of July, 2022. 

 
ATTEST CITY COUNCIL FOR THE  
 CITY OF BESSEMER CITY 

 
BY   

Hydeia Hayes, City Clerk Becky S. Smith, Mayor 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 

 
Dan O’Shea, City Attorney 

68

Item 13.



Chapter 120: Mobile Food Vendor Regulations 

Definitions: 

1. Mobile Food Vendor or Food Truck - shall include vendors of food, drink, or other 

consumable products which may operate as a Food Truck, food trailer, food cart, or 

other similar mobile or temporary vehicle that is licensed by the NC Division of Motor 

Vehicles and as authorized by N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 130A-247 et seq., which is temporarily 

situated in a location where food items are sold to the general public, and is a vehicle-

mounted, vehicle-towed, or vehicle-carried food service establishment, including ice 

cream trucks, designed to be readily moved.  

2. Vendor – any person who owns, operates, or manages a business that prepares or 

serves pre-packaged or cooked food and/or beverages for sale to the public on a 

recurring basis from a Food Truck.  

Locations: 

1. General: 

a. Mobile Food Vendors shall be permitted to operate in any commercial, business, 

or industrially zoned areas, so long as they obtain written permission from the 

property owner and submit a copy of said written permission to the City with 

their application.  

b. Mobile Food Vendors shall be permitted to operate in any publicly-maintained 

park(s), but first must receive permission from the City Manager and or the City 

Parks and Recreations Director.  

c. Operation of Mobile Food Vendors on individual residentially zoned lots, 

whether developed with dwellings or not, shall be prohibited.  

d. Mobile Food Vendors shall not be located within one hundred (100) feet of the 

main entrance of any restaurant, any outdoor dining space, or any fixed location 

of competing nature, nor shall Mobile Food Vendors block or park in front of any 

other open business, unless said business owns the mobile Food Truck, or 

permission is given by the owner of said business. This requirement shall not 

apply during festivals or other events when a Mobile Food Vendor is operating 

on a street that is closed in connection with such festival or other event.  

e. No Mobile Food Vendor may be parked in a location that prohibits or restricts 

access to a private property. Minimum five foot (5) spacing is required from any 

driveway, measured from the driveway apron.  

f. Mobile Food Vendors must be located at least five (5) feet from any utility box, 

utility vault, handicapped ramp, or similar feature. The Mobile Food Vendor 

must be located at least fifteen (15) feet from any fire hydrant. This requirement 

shall not apply when a Mobile Food Vendor is operating on a street that is closed 

in connection with a festival or other event. 

69

Item 14.



g. The Mobile Food Vendor shall not impede or interfere with pedestrian or 

vehicular traffic flow, nor obstruct ingress/egress of a building as set forth in all 

applicable North Carolina State Building and Fire Codes.  

 

2. Right-of-way Eligibility Standards: 

 

a. The Mobile Food Vendor may park and operate in a permitted parking space 

within a right-of-way owned or maintained by the City of Bessemer City. but at 

no time shall be parked on any North Carolina Department of Transportation 

right-of-way as provided for in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 136-18(9), North Carolina 

Administrative Code 19A NCAC 02E.0414, and NCDOT Maintenance Operations 

Manual General Ordinance 14. This requirement shall not apply when a Mobile 

Food Vendor is operating on a street that is closed in connection with a festival 

or other event. 

b. All Mobile Food Vendors parked and operating as set forth in subsection “a” 

above must be situated so as to allow at least five (5) feet of unobstructed space 

for pedestrians on sidewalks, pedestrian paths, and other locations intended 

primarily for pedestrian travel. If any applicable law, including Americans with 

Disability Act regulations, shall require a greater distance, the greater distance 

shall apply.  

c. All Mobile Food Vendors must be situated such that the service window from 

which customers place orders is oriented facing the sidewalk or other pedestrian 

walkway side of the Food Truck, and at no time shall customers be allowed to 

place orders form the motoring public side of the Mobile Food Vendor. The 

requirement shall not apply when a Mobile Food Vendor is operating on a street 

that is closed in connection with a festival or other event. 

d. The Mobile Food Vendor may not operate or park within a permitted parking 

space before 7:00 AM, and must cease operation and leave the permitted 

parking space by 10:00 PM. This requirement shall not apply when a Mobile 

Food Vendor is operating on a street that is closed in connection with a festival 

or other event. 

Standards: 

1. A Temporary Use Permit (or Mobile Food Vendor Permit) issued by the City of Bessemer 

City Planning and Zoning Department shall be required for the operation of any Mobile 

Food Vendor within the incorporated city limits of Bessemer City. The approved permit 

must be posted in public view while operating within the City of Bessemer City.  

2. The vendor shall submit an application to the Planning and Zoning Department, which 

shall include a site plan showing the location or locations where the Mobile Food 

Vendor will operate and demonstrate that all requirements of this ordinance can be met 

while operating at each such location.  

70

Item 14.



3. The Mobile Food Vendor shall only operate at those locations specified in the permit. 

4. A permit shall be valid for a period of one year from the date of issuance.  

5. A valid health department inspection grade card from the Gaston County Health 

Department shall be visually displayed on the mobile Food Truck or cart in a clear view 

of all patrons, and the Mobile Food Vendor shall comply with all regulations and 

requirements of the Gaston County Health Department, as well as those of any other 

governmental unit authorized to issue such rules and regulations, and shall provide 

documentation of compliance upon request.  

6. The suspension, expiration, or revocation of approvals and permits associated with any 

North Carolina county’s environmental health department (or substantially similar 

department) will render the Mobile Food Vendor Permit void. 

7. Mobile Food Vendors must comply with all applicable Environmental Health regulations 

set forth by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, specifically 

15A NCAC 18A .2670 of NCDHHS’s Rules of Governing the Food Protection and 

Sanitation of Food Establishments.  

8. Mobile Food Vendors shall not occupy any ADA handicap accessible parking spaces.  

9. Mobile Food Vendors are limited to daily hours of operation between 7:00 AM and 

10:00 PM. This restriction shall not apply when a Mobile Food Vendor is operating in 

connection with a festival or other event that begins earlier or ends later. 

10. Mobile Food Vendors shall supply adequate solid waste receptacles for customers. City 

receptacles may not be utilized for this purpose.  

11. No liquid waste or grease may be poured into any tree pit, storm drain, street, gutter 

pan, sidewalk, or any other public space. Grease cannot be released into the City’s 

sanitary sewer system and shall be disposed of off-site at a separate location suitable to 

that purpose.  

12. Mobile Food Vendors shall make available hand sanitizer to its customers.  

13. Food Trucks must have the following fire extinguishers on board during hours of 

operation: minimum Class 2A, 10B, and C rated extinguishers. If food preparation 

involves deep frying, a Class K fire extinguisher must also be on the truck. Fire 

extinguishers shall be maintained pursuant to National Fire Protection Association 

(NFPA) Standard 10. 

14. Mobile Food Vendors shall not operate as a drive through window.  

15. The noise level from the Food Truck motor and generator must comply with the City’s 

noise ordinance.  

16. No signage shall be allowed other than signs permanently attached to the motor 

vehicle. The Mobile Food Vendor shall not place or use sound equipment on or in the 

area of the Food Truck. This requirement shall not apply when a Mobile Food Vendor is 

operating in connection with a festival or other event.  

17. Alcohol may not be served by any Mobile Food Vendor. This requirement shall not apply 

when a Mobile Food Vendor is operating in connection with a festival or other event , 

but all state and local laws governing the sale of alcohol shall be complied with. Vendors 

71

Item 14.



must submit proof of all required licensure for the sale of alcohol prior to any such 

festival or event.  

18. Vendor or vendor’s designee shall be physically present in or about the Food Truck at all 

times, except in the case of emergency.  

19. The Mobile Food Vendor will bear all costs associated with the establishment and 

operation of the Food Truck, including, but not limited to, the provision of water and 

electrical power. This requirement shall not apply when a Mobile Food Vendor is 

operating in connection with a festival or other event. 

Enforcement 

1. Civil Penalties: 

a. Violations of any of the provisions of this section will result in the following civil 

penalties: 

i. First offense in any twelve-month period - $100.00 

ii. Second offense in any twelve month period - $500.00 

iii. Third and each further offense in any twelve month period –$1000.00; 

permit revoked and Mobile Food Vendor becomes ineligible for new 

permit.  

b. The City Manager or the Manager’s designee may issue a notice of violation 

assessing civil penalties. The notice shall be issued in writing and shall set forth 

with reasonable specificity the basis for the civil penalty. The notice of violation 

shall be served by registered or certified mail, or by personal service. When 

service is made by registered or certified mail, a copy of the notice may also be 

sent by first class mail. Service shall be deemed sufficient if the first class mail is 

not returned by the Post Office within ten (10) business days after the mailing. 

Refusal to accept the notice shall not relieve the violator of the obligation to pay 

the penalty.  

c. The notice of violation shall contain a time period which the violation must be 

corrected. From and after the date specified in the notice, each subsequent day 

that the violation continues shall constitute a separate and distinct offense 

subject to additional civil penalties. 

d. If any person fails to pay any civil penalty within thirty (30) days after the 

decision becomes final, the City may recover the penalty, together with all costs 

allowed by law, by filing a civil action in the General Court of Justice in the nature 

of a suit to collect a debt.  

2. Administrative fee: 

a. Any person who violates this article shall pay and administrative fee of one 

hundred dollars ($100.00) per violation in addition to civil penalty.  

3. Other Remedies: 

72

Item 14.



a. In addition to civil penalties, a violation of this division is a misdemeanor and 

may also be enforced through injunctive or other equitable relief, or a 

combination of remedies.  

4. Appeals: 

a. A party aggrieved may appeal any decision under this section to the City 

Manager within fifteen (15) calendar days after the contested decision.  An 

appeal must be made in writing and shall contain the reasons supporting the 

appeal and any evidence that supports it.  The person appealing may review the 

evidence that is the basis of any suspension or violation during the City’s normal 

business hours.  The City Manager or his designee shall review the information 

provided and shall issue a written decision determining whether a violation has 

occurred. 

b. After receiving a determination from the City Manager or his designee, a party 

aggrieved may appeal to the City Council within twenty-one (21) calendar days 

after the City Manager’s decision (or the decision of his designee) was mailed.  

The scope of the City Council’s review shall be limited to verifying the facts 

supporting a written decision or Findings of Fact made on a suspension.  If the 

City Council finds that the facts as found are correct, the civil penalty, 

administrative fee, or suspension shall be upheld. 

5. Termination or Amendment of Mobile Food Vending. 

The City Council may amend, revise, or terminate mobile food vending by 

ordinance duly enacted.  

73

Item 14.



 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 130.10 OF THE CITY OF 

BESSEMER CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

WHEREAS, after proper notification a Public Hearing was held before the Bessemer City Council on July 11, 

2022 to consider a proposed amendment to the City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances and Land Development 

Code.  

WHEREAS, after a vote, the City Council of Bessemer City approved a text change to the    

City of Bessemer City Code of Ordinances reflected in Chapter 130.10 of the City of Bessemer City Code of 

Ordinances. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, that the City of 

Bessemer City Code of Ordinances is amended to reflect the adopted changes as written below. 

1. CHAPTER 120 MOBILE VENDING. 

 

Effective Date 

This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, 

North Carolina. 

 

Adopted by City Council this 11th Day of July, 2022. 

 

 

 

Becky S. Smith, Mayor 

 

Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 

COBC-GOVBOD-2022-2023 O 3 

74

Item 15.



PLAN CONSISTENCY & STATEMENT OF REASONABLENESS 

TEXT AMENDMENT 03-2022 

July 11, 2022 

 
Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §160D-605 the City of Bessemer City Council hereby approves 
and adopts the following Plan Consistency and Statement of Reasonableness for the text 
amendment of the Land Development Code of the City of Bessemer City, North Carolina. 
 
1) Said text changes are consistent with the goals and values established by the City 

Council adopted in 2019.  

a. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following seven 
values: 1. Open, Honest and Accessible Government, 2. Fiscal Accountability and 
Sustainability, 3. Public Safety and Safe and Accessible Neighborhoods, 4. Keeping True to 
Our Small-Town Character and Traditions, 5. Focused on Quality and Customer Service, 6. 
Family Oriented, 7. Promote a Healthy Quality of Life. These text amendments are 
consistent with these values.  

b. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following 
eight goals: 1. A desirable place to live and work that is open to growth, 2. A safe and 
secure community for residents and visitors, 3. A sustainable community with high 
quality and dependable infrastructure and utilities, 4. A thriving, viable and diverse 
economy, 5. Provide opportunities for our citizens, 6. Sustainable organizational 
capacity, 7. Embrace innovation and promote creativity, 8. Promote a healthy quality 
of life. These text amendments are consistent with these goals.   

 

2) The text amendments would not be detrimental to the city and ETJ. 

a. The physical condition that make the text amendments reasonable are: 

• Provides for systematic zoning and land usage regulation changes that 
preserves and protects our existing neighborhoods and promotes diverse ways 
of life that do not take away from our small town character.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Therefore, the requested text amendments are reasonable and in the public interest. 

Upon a motion that the application is consistent with the Bessemer City Planning and 
Economic Development Comprehensive Land Use Vision. 75

Item 15.



Read, approved and adopted this the 11th day of July, 2022. 

 
ATTEST CITY COUNCIL FOR THE  
 CITY OF BESSEMER CITY 

 
BY   

Hydeia Hayes, City Clerk Becky S. Smith, Mayor 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 

 
Dan O’Shea, City Attorney 

76

Item 15.



COBC-GOVBOD-2022-2023 R 1 

 
RESOLUTION TO APPROVE INCENTIVES PURSUANT TO N.C.GEN.STAT.§158-7.1 

AND TO AUTHORIZE BESSEMER CITY TO ENTER INTO AN 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (EDA) WITH 

EDGEWOOD INDUSTRIAL PHASE 1 OWNER LP 
 

WHEREAS,  Trinity Capital is considering a total investment of approximately $44 million to 

build four facilities totaling 1,000,000 square feet of warehouse and distribution 

space in the Edgewood 85 Commerce Park in Bessemer City; and  

 

WHEREAS,  an advertised public hearing was held on Monday, July 11, 2022 to hear public 

comment regarding this economic development incentive; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the development will consist of four facilities, with the first phase to include two 

facilities totaling 650,000 square feet of space, followed by two additional facilities 

totaling 350,000 square feet, and will be developed the name of Edgewood 

Industrial Phase 1 Owner LP; and,  

 

WHEREAS,  North Carolina General Statute §158-7.1 authorizes a City to undertake an economic 

development project by providing grants for the location of industry; and,  

 

WHEREAS,  Bessemer City Gaston County developed an economic grant policy to provide 

global advanced manufacturing companies and distribution facilities with high 

quality industrial park locations; and, 

 

WHEREAS,  it is anticipated that the Company’s capital investment in and at the Property and its 

operations thereat will generate significant ad valorem tax, sales tax and other 

revenues to the City; and, 

 

WHEREAS,  Bessemer City and Gaston County will prepare a detailed economic development 

agreement (EDA), with Edgewood Industrial Phase 1 Owner LP, so as to induce 

the company to provide good job opportunities and capital investment which will 

enhance the City’s ability to attract additional business and industry. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Bessemer City Council: 

 

1. Approves the City Investment Grant to Edgewood Industrial Phase 1 Owner 

LP; and,  

2. That the Mayor of Bessemer City or the City Manager is authorized to execute 

any documents necessary to complete an Economic Development Agreement 

for Edgewood Industrial Phase 1 Owner LP. 

 

 
 

77

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

Adopted this the 11th day of July 2022. 

 

 

________________________________ 

Becky S. Smith, Mayor 

 

________________________________ 

  Hydeia Y. Hayes, MPA, CMC, City Clerk 

78

Item 17.



COBC-GOVBOD-2022-2023 R 2 

 
RESOLUTION : TO APPROVE INCENTIVES PURSUANT TO N.C.GEN.STAT.§158-7.1 

AND TO AUTHORIZE BESSEMER CITY TO ENTER INTO AN 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (EDA) WITH 

PROJECT TRIM (LEVEL I INVESTMENT GRANT) 
 

WHEREAS,  Project TRIM is considering a total investment of approximately $2 million to upfit 

and occupy an existing facility in Edgewood 85 Commerce Park, to include the 

purchase and installation of  machinery & equipment, with the expectation to 

complete this investment on or before December 31, 2023; and, 

 

WHEREAS,  an advertised public hearing was held on Monday, July 11, 2022 to hear public 

comment regarding this economic development incentive; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the firm intends to create 14 new jobs and transfer 56 existing jobs from another 

state, and expects to pay an annual wage in excess of the County average ; and, 

 

WHEREAS,  North Carolina General Statute §158-7.1 authorizes a County to undertake an 

economic development project by providing grants for the location of industry; and,  

 

WHEREAS,  Bessemer City and Gaston County developed an economic grant policy to provide 

global advanced manufacturing companies and distribution facilities with high 

quality industrial park locations; and, 

 

WHEREAS,  it is anticipated that the Company’s capital investment in and at the Property and its 

operations thereat will generate significant ad valorem tax, sales tax and other 

revenues to the City; and, 

 

WHEREAS,  Bessemer City and Gaston County will prepare a detailed Level I economic 

development agreement (EDA), between Project TRIM, so as to induce the 

company to provide good job opportunities and capital investment which will 

enhance the City’s ability to attract additional business and industry. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Bessemer City Council: 

 

1. That the Level I Economic Incentive Grant is approved for Project TRIM; and,  

2. That the Mayor of Bessemer City or the City Manager is authorized to execute 

any documents necessary to complete an Economic Development Agreement 

for Project TRIM. 
 

 

 

 

 
79

Item 19.



 

Adopted this the 11th day of April, 2022. 

 

 

________________________________ 

Becky S. Smith, Mayor 

 

________________________________ 

  Hydeia Y. Hayes, MPA, CMC, City Clerk 

80

Item 19.


	Top
	Item 1.	Reg Mins
	Bessemer City Regular Meeting Minutes June  13 2022

	Item 2.	Work Session Mins
	City Council Work Session Minutes June 7th 2022

	Item 6.	Lennar Public Hearing
	Petition for Annexation Form (Full)

	Item 7.	Annexation - Lennar Homes
	ANNEXATION_ORDINANCE_LENNAR_HOMES
	COSTNER ANNEXATION PLAT

	Item 8.	Public Hearing on Code of Ord
	CHAPTER 93.Jan22 - CLEAN---

	Item 9.	Ordinance for Text Amendment
	TA-03-2022 - 93 Animals
	Text amendment 03-2022 July 11 2022 - Consistency

	Item 10.	Public Hearing for Cpt 150
	CHAPTER 150.final.march22 - CLEAN

	Item 11.	Ordin for Amendment Chp 150
	TA-03-2022 Ordinance 150
	Text amendment 03-2022 July 11 2022 - Consistency

	Item 12.	Public Hearing Cpt. 130 120
	Camping Ordinance - DPO Rev 5-17-22

	Item 13.	Ordin for Text Amn 130 120
	TA-03-2022 Ordinance 130.10
	Text amendment 03-2022 July 11 2022 - Consistency

	Item 14.	Chpt 120
	Mobile Vendor Ordinance - DPO Rev. 5-17-22

	Item 15.	Cptr 120
	TA-03-2022 Ordinance 120
	Text amendment 03-2022 July 11 2022 - Consistency

	Item 17.	Resolution - Trinity Capital Advisors Project Incentive:
	July 11 2022 Resolution for Trinity Capital

	Item 19.	Project Trim
	July 11 2022 Resolution for Project Trim

	Bottom

